
















































Request for Proposal Number 2787 Z1 

Contract Number 38349 O4 

Proposal Opening: February 20, 2009 
 
 
In accordance with Nebraska Revised Statutes §84.712.05(3), the following material(s) has not 
been included due to it being marked proprietary. 
 

Health Fitness Corporation 
1. Section IV. – Item D, Question 5 
2. Technical Proposal – Corporate Overview, Item H 
3. Exhibit 1 – Disaster Recovery Plan 
4. Exhibit 4 – HA Participant Profile 
5. Exhibit 6 – Coach/Participant Interactions 
6. Exhibit 8 – Sample Preventative Care and Gaps in Care Messages 
7. Exhibit 10 – Integration Diagram 
8. Exhibit 11 – INSIGHT Health Assessment 
9. Exhibit 12 – Worksite Screening Overview 
10. Exhibit 13 – Established Marketing Campaigns 
11. Exhibit 14 – Standard Health Management Reports 
12. Exhibit 15 – Results Calculator and ROI Analysis Report 
13. Exhibit 18 – Sample Implementation Plan 
14. Exhibit 19 – HealthFitness Team Biographies 
15. Exhibit 20 – Health Management Plan 

 
In accordance with Federal U.S. Copyright Law Title 17 U.S.C. Section 101 et seq., Title 18 
U.S.C. 2319, the following material(s) has not been included due to them being copyrighted. 
 

Health Fitness Corporation 
1. Table of Contents 
2. Section III.  Terms and Conditions 
3. Certificate of Insurance 
4. Disaster Recovery Plan 
5. Section IV.  Project Description and Scope of Work 
6. Technical Proposal 
7. Cost Proposal Requirements 
8. Pricing/Fee Footnotes:  Assumptions 
9. Form A Bidder Contact Sheet 
10. Exhibit 2 – eHealth Platform Overview 
11. Exhibit 3 – eHealth Configurations 
12. Exhibit 5 – INSIGHT Health Assessment Scientific Validity References  
13. Exhibit 7 – HealthFitness Program brochures 
14. Exhibit 9 – Disease Management Condition/Health Coaching Model 
15. Exhibit 16 – eHealth Eligibility File Requirements 
16. Exhibit 17 – HealthFitness eHealth Security 
17. Exhibit 17 – Data Privacy Policies and Procedures 
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 ADDENDUM TWO 
 
 

DATE:  February 11, 2009 
 
TO:  All Vendors  
 
FROM: Ruth Gray, Buyer 

State Purchasing Bureau  
 
RE:  RFP Number 2787Z1 

 
 

 

SCOPE OF ADDENDUM 
 

Addendum One is hereby amended as follows: 
 
Please disregard the map attached to Addendum One.  The corrected map of 
Nebraska State Employees by County is attached.  
 
This addendum will become part of the proposal and should be acknowledged with the 
RFP. 
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 ADDENDUM ONE 

 
DATE:  February 10, 2009 
 
TO:  All Vendors  
 
FROM: Ruth Gray, Buyer 

State Purchasing Bureau  
 
RE:  Questions and Answers for RFP Number 2787Z1 

to be opened February 20, 2009 at 2:00 PM Central Time 

 

 
Following are the questions submitted and answers provided for the above mentioned 
Request For Proposal.  The questions and answers are to be considered as part of the 
Request For Proposal. 

 

QUESTIONS ANSWERS 
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QUESTIONS ANSWERS 

I understand that the State is deploying a new 
PPO plan, which I am sure represents a 
lower cost option to the State.  However, 
noting that the State has decided to offer the 
wellness program only to employees who 
select this new plan, “Employees enrolled in 
other health plans offered by the State will not 
have the ability to enroll in the Wellness 
Program, “ it appears this policy position may 
not be entirely consistent with the project 
requirements, viz., (see below) 
PROJECT REQUIREMENTS 
The State’s long-term strategy is to develop 
and implement plans and programs that: 
1.  Are based on current and future cost 
drivers, using State-specific data (where 
available) to support initiatives and measure 
program effectiveness 
2.  Have a total population focus  
3.  Lead to long-term, sustainable behavior 
change 
4.  Address a broad view of health and well-
being issues   
5.  Are flexible, repeatable and scalable 
6.  Are all inclusive 
I think I can safely assume that the reason 
behind this position is the desire to move 
more employees into this new PPO.  If this is 
not a correct assumption, please help me 
understand the reason.  Additionally, I would 
like to suggest that consideration be given to 
the option of allowing all state employees to 
receive the benefit from the lifestyle 
improvement programs and perhaps using 
other incentives to entice employees into the 
PPO plan, rather than narrowing the 
opportunity for the State to benefit from the 
medical cost savings from all employees. 

It is the State’s intent to allow all eligible 
employees to have access to the wellness 
program.  However to take advantage of the 
wellness medical plan design benefits, they 
must complete the wellness program criteria. 
Following is a description of the expected 
eligibility criteria for the wellness program and 
wellness medical plan designs, including 
future enhancements. 

 

Wellness Program Eligibility 
All benefit eligible employees will have 
access to complete the health assessment 
during 2009/2010 open enrollment, which is 
the entry point for access to the Wellness 
Medical Plan for this benefits year only. All 
benefit eligible employees will have access to 
all on-line tools and resources.  Additional 
programs will be determined by vendor 
engagement. 
 
This allows a comprehensive program 
approach to be rolled out to the entire 
population, creating a supportive culture of 
health and driving behavior change 
throughout the organization. 
 

Wellness Medical Plan Eligibility 
Access to this plan, for the benefits year 
2009/2010, is dependent upon employees 
completing the Health Assessment during 
open enrollment (April 20 – May 18, 2009).  
  
Access to this plan going forward, will require 
benefit eligible employees to complete 
defined activities, prior to open enrollment of 
the following year. 

 

Three Year Approach:  
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2010/2011 requirements: 
Completion of the following between July 1, 
2009 & March 31, 2010 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- One Wellness Activity 
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QUESTIONS ANSWERS 

I will simply add that in my experience 
with many companies across the 
country who have taken such a 
position have ended up changing this 
position sooner or later.  Although we 
would love to participate in the RFP, 
we will have to decline if this remains 
the current policy.  We have 
unfortunately experienced the 
repercussions of similar 
implementations which prevent us in 
good faith from supporting the 
approach (essentially our success 
would be significantly impacted by the 
potential disfavor among employees 
this policy could create).  I hope you 
understand I am simply offering an 
observation and perspective. 

Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2011/2012 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2010 & March 31, 2011 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Two Wellness Activities 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2012/2013 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2011 & March 31, 2012 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Three Wellness Activities 
 

 

 

The RFP Schedule of Events indicates the 
contract will be awarded on March 20, 2009, 
and the contractor start date is April 1, 2009.  
Section II.C. states that the selected 
contractor is prohibited from communicated 
with State staff until a contract is signed and 
Section III.O. states that no billable work may 
begin until a valid contract has been fully 
executed by the State and the selected 
contractor.  Further, Section IV.A. indicates 
that the State is requesting proposals for a 
Wellness Program to be launched with Open 
Enrollment on April 13, 2009. 

a) Is it the State’s expectation that the 
chosen vendor would implement the 
Wellness Program within the one-
and-one-half-week period between 
April 1 and April 13, 2009? 

b) If so, which specific program 
elements would be required for the 
April 13, 2009 launch?  Section IV.A. 
references Health Assessment Tools 
and communication pieces; Section 
IV.E. states the Wellness Program 
would include health risk assessment 
tools, educational content, health 
tools and resources, on-line and on-
site educational programs, on-line 
activity tracking, telephonic health 
coaching, comprehensive reporting, 
and day-to-day on-site management. 

a)  The State intends to start the contract with 
the wellness vendor on April 1, 2009.  The 
State intends to conduct statewide 
educational meetings the week of April 13, 
2009.  The wellness vendor is expected to 
participate in these statewide educational 
meetings.  The State intends for the wellness 
vendor to have the Health Assessment up 
and running by April 20, 2009, the start of the 
open enrollment period.  Communication 
pieces for this initial launch are nearly 
complete and will just need vendor details 
laid into the designed communication piece.  
Moving forward the State will work with the 
selected vendor to utilize communication 
templates and verbiage. 

b)  The only program element required for the 
launch on April 13, 2009, is the Health 
Assessment.  The State will incorporate any 
wellness vendor communication materials 
available with the State’s overall 
communication strategy.   

c)  The State is looking for a dedicated 
wellness coordinator that would be 
accessible to each State location to manage 
the program, interact with employees and be 
the face of wellness for the State. The 
Wellness Coordinator must meet the 
requirements as shown in Section IV.F.6 on 
page 28 of the RFP.  The full time wellness 
coordinator is not required as of April 13, 
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c) Is the State expecting the selected 
vendor to provide a dedicated 
Wellness Coordinator to manage all 
wellness program activities on-site by 
April 13, 2009? 

2009.  The State will work with the selected 
vendor to establish reasonable expectations 
of when the full time coordinator should be in 
place.  Initial expectations would be no later 
than July 1, 2009.  

Please provide more details regarding the 
State’s expectations for customization of a 
health assessment, communications and 
educational materials, and would the State 
expect these customizations to be 
implemented for the April 13, 2009 Open 
Enrollment program launch? 

The State does not have specific health 
assessment customization needs at this time, 
but would like to know the capability, 
timeframes needed and cost if the need does 
arise. 

Communication pieces for the initial launch 
are nearly complete and will just need vendor 
details laid into the designed communication 
piece.  Moving forward the State will work 
with the selected vendor to utilize 
communication templates and verbiage and 
customize as appropriate.  

 

The word document that is titled "State of 
Nebraska (State Purchasing Bureau) 
Request for Proposal for contractual services 
Form"   In section IV. Section D, it ask's 
questions, do we type the answers into the 
document and print it, or do you want those in 
a seperate format?  

Please provide all answers on an attachment 
with the page, section and subsection 
indicated such as Page 23, Section IV, D – 
Business Requirements or you can type the 
answers into the document and include this 
as a separate section in your proposal.   

I am in the Process of preparing a RFP for 
2787z1, and it asks for a proposal.   We need 
to know the number of employees that the 
insurance benefits cover, the insurance 
coverage renewal date, and whether you are 
self funded, or fully insured in order to submit 
a proposal accuratly of our services.  

There are approximately 17,000 state 
employees eligible for employee benefits 
coverage of which 14,000 currently are 
enrolled in one of the health plans.  The 
health insurance renewal date is July 1 of 
each year..  The State of Nebraska is self 
funded. 
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How many screening locations are desired 
and what is the eligible count for each 
location? 

The number of screening locations will be 
dependent upon the enrollment in the 
wellness health plan.  The State will work with 
the selected vendor to determine the 
threshold of employees participating in the 
wellness health plan to determine where on 
site biometric screenings will be conducted. 
In areas with less than the threshold of 
employees participating in the wellness 
health plan, it is expected that the screenings 
will be conducted at a local lab or physician’s 
office and sent to the wellness vendor.  
Pricing for screenings should reflect the 
vendor’s preferred approach to conducting 
screenings in rural areas with low head count. 
See attached map of Nebraska State 
Employees by County as part of this 
document.   

Is there flexibility around the launch date?  
Our typical implementation period is 
approximately 90 days.   

See answer to Question 2 for the expected 
implementation timeline for the launch of the 
wellness program. 

Please clarify that you are interested in 
disease management as part of this rfp. 

Currently the State does not have a Disease 
Management (DM) program and is interested 
in Disease Management capabilities as they 
integrate with wellness.  Please describe your 
approach to DM, whether it is a traditional 
model or a modified DM approach, if you 
outsource or manage internally and costs for 
such services.  If you do not provide these 
services, please indicate as such.  The State 
will evaluate the scope of all available 
services and determine which services make 
most sense to implement now and consider 
for a later date. 

Section IV states the bidder must provide the 
following information, including D.1-5 
Business Requirements.  In which section of 
the proposal would the State prefer to have 
these Business Requirements addressed? 

Please provide all answers on an attachment 
with the page, section and subsection 
indicated such as Page 23, Section IV, D – 
Business Requirements or you can type the 
answers into the document and include this 
as a separate section in your proposal. 

Section F.1. Technical 
Requirements/Program Components states 
“Check how the employee receives program 
assistance and whether they are proprietary 
or outsourced.”  Can you please clarify what 
this is referencing and what information the 
State is looking for in response? 

This section refers to the table on page 24.  
The State requests that for each program 
description listed the vendor should indicate 
how the service is delivered – either online, 
telephone, face-to-face or mail based – and 
whether the service is proprietary or 
outsourced. 
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Can the cost of screenings be billed and 
reimbursed by the health plan 

The costs of the screenings will be paid by 
the State’s wellness program budget. 

For what conditions, and at what level will 
your current Disease Management vendor 
provide coaching; what coaching level would 
you want from the selected wellness vendor 
to avoid duplication. 

See answer to Question 8. 

Please provide a summary of benefits for the 
two health plans that will be available to 
employees, and your assumptions regarding 
the number of employees that will enroll in 
each plan 

The wellness health plan has not been 
finalized.  However, the State is targeting first 
year participation in the wellness health plan 
of 20%. 

Please provide a list with location and the 
number of employees eligible for the wellness 
program 

See attached map of Nebraska State 
Employees by County as part of this 
document.  

Please provide a list of the locations that you 
intend to conduct biometric screenings at 

See answer to Question 6. 

I. Scope of Proposal 
5-year rate guarantee period, with option to 
renew in 2 one-year intervals.  Please verify if 
5-year guarantee can be by quoted with per 
year fees? 

The State is looking for vendors to provide 
component pricing for each of the various 
program requirements on a fixed price basis. 
It is not the desire of the State to pay one 
annual fee.  The State does not require that 
the same fee apply to all 5 years, however a 
fee must be provided for each of the 5 years. 
  

IV. Project description and Scope 
Section F.6 
Bidder is to provide a dedicated "Wellness 
Coordinator".  Is there a similar position at the 
State?   Or is the intent that the bidder’s 
coordinator maintains all the records for the 
program; notifies the State only who is on the 
coverage for payroll and advises the member 
which plans they should be enrolled in?   This 
position will then be responsible for directing 
the State's program? 

There is no current wellness coordinator 
position within the State.  The State is looking 
for a vendor to provide a dedicated person 
who will help coordinate all wellness 
activities, manage the day to day operations 
of the program, and interface with the State’s 
Benefit and HR team to achieve designated 
goals and to be the outward employee face of 
the program.  

IV. Project description and Scope 
Section F.6 
Will there be regional coordinators or 
wellness coaches throughout theState to 
assist?  One Coordinator working with a team 
approach at various  locations?  Explain the 
hierarchy of the "employee committees". 

There are no wellness coaches or 
coordinators throughout the State.  The State 
will be looking for the wellness coordinator to 
establish and manage “wellness champions” 
throughout the organization. 
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QUESTIONS ANSWERS 

Pages 7-21, III. Terms and Conditions, 
Sections A-ZZ.  Please clarify whether or not 
the Terms and Conditions, as stated on 
pages 7-21, must be affirmatively accepted 
and included in bidders’ proposal responses? 
  
If yes, should the pages be included behind 
the Contractual Services Form or elsewhere 
as part of the proposal response?   

Yes, Section III. Terms and Conditions, A-ZZ 
must be included as a tab as part of the 
bidder’s proposal response.  

 

 

Page 22, IV. Project Descriptions and Scope 
of Work, B. Project Environment.  The RFP 
clearly states that the “State of Nebraska 
does not have a comprehensive Wellness 
Program.”  Please clarify whether or not the 
State has a Disease Management Program? 
If yes, who is the vendor and how long have 
they provided services for the State’s 
employees? 

The State does not currently have a Disease 
Management Program. 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, B. Project Environment. The RFP 
states that a number of agencies have 
worksite wellness activities or programs 
already in place.  Which activities have 
generated the highest levels of employee 
participation?  
Which activities have generated positive 
results?  Please describe so that we can 
better understand your culture. 

A few agencies have implemented their 
programs independently; therefore, that data 
is not available. 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  The RFP 
states that the State of Nebraska is 
implementing a new PPO health plan.   Who 
are the State Purchasing Bureau’s other 
external vendor partners under contract, 
including the PPO health plan? 

The State of Nebraska’s health plan 
administrator is Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Nebraska and the PBM is Express Scripts. 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, A. Project Overview and C. Project 
Requirements. The RFP states that the 
State’s employees enrolled in the PPO health 
plan will be enrolled and participate in the 
Wellness Program.  Please confirm that 
14,000 employees are enrolled in the PPO 
health plan and that bidder’s pricing should 
be based on 14,000 employees.  
Please also confirm that employees enrolled 
in another health plan, will not be eligible for 
the Wellness Program.  

All benefit eligible employees will have 
access to complete the health assessment 
during 2009/2010 open enrollment, which is 
the entry point for access to the Wellness 
Medical Plan for this benefits year only. All 
benefit eligible employees will have access to 
all on-line tools and resources.  Additional 
programs will be determined by vendor 
engagement. 

This allows a comprehensive program 
approach to be rolled out to the entire 
population, creating a supportive culture of 
health and driving behavior change 
throughout the organization. 
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Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  How does 
the State define “active participation?”   
How does the State envision reinforcing the 
requirement that each employee “actively 
participate” in the Wellness Program in order 
to continue to be eligible for the PPO Plan?   

The State’s current vision is that employees 
will jump start into the Wellness Medical Plan 
by taking the Health Assessment during the 
2009/2010 open enrollment period, beginning 
April 20, 2009.  From that point forward, 
employees will be required to meet the 
following standards each year, prior to open 
enrollment, to be eligible for the Wellness 
Medical plan. If they do not meet the 
requirements for participation, they will not 
have access to the Wellness Medical Plan 
during open enrollment and will have the 
option to choose one of the other State health 
plans. 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2010/2011 requirements: 
Completion of the following between July 1, 
2009 & March 31, 2010 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- One Wellness Activity 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2011/2012 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2010 & March 31, 2011 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Two Wellness Activities 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2012/2013 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2011 & March 31, 2012 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Three Wellness Activities 

The State is open to working with the chosen 
vendor to tailor this approach, depending on 
capabilities and tracking sophistication (i.e. 
meeting defined goals or making health 
status improvement). 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  How does 
the State define “active participation?”   
Will there be timeframes established and 
specific engagement behaviors defined that 
equal “participation”?  

 See answer to Question 24 for the 
timeframes.  The State will work with the 
selected vendor to determine the specific 
engagement behaviors.  
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Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  How does 
the State define “active participation?”   
Specifically, we are trying to understand 
where the State is on the Wellness 
continuum in order to make 
recommendations.  Is participation measured 
quarterly or annually and reported back to the 
PPO?   

The State anticipates participation will be 
reported annually and eligibility compliance 
will be reported back to the State. 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  How does 
the State define “active participation?”   
What happens if a participant does not 
continue “active” participation in the Wellness 
program?    

If they do not meet the requirements for 
participation, they will not have access to the 
Wellness Medical Plan during open 
enrollment and will have the option to choose 
one of the other State health plans. 

Page 22, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, C. Project Requirements.  How does 
the State define “active participation?”   
What type of medical coverage will they 
default to for failure to participate in the 
Wellness Program? 

If an employee failed to meet eligibility 
requirements in the Wellness Program, they 
will be defaulted to the Regular PPO plan. 

Are only the State’s employees included in 
the Wellness Program or will the Wellness 
Program also be offered to the employees’ 
dependents?   
If the Wellness Program will be offered to the 
employees’ dependents, what dependency 
factor should bidders use in their pricing 
calculations?      

At this point in time the wellness program is 
only for State employees, Spouses are being 
considered for year 2. There are 6,090 
spouses currently enrolled in one of the 
current health plans.  Bidders should price 
accordingly. 

Page 23, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, E. Scope of Work.  Specific to the 
State’s evaluation of which risk assessment 
approach is preferred, what is the State’s 
point of view as to the advantage of an 
individual being identified for services via the 
HRA over a Biometric Screening or vice 
versa?   We are interested in your 
perspective of choosing one over the other 
and/or the consideration of both as a vehicle 
for assessing the overall health status of an 
individual.  In our experience the majority of 
clients choose both methods as a means to 
increase enrollment and active engagement, 
thus leading to improved health and reduced 
overall costs. 

The State understands the value of biometric 
screenings and the role those values play in 
assessing an individuals health.  With this, 
biometrics will be part of the overall 
programming moving forward, but due to time 
constraints, it is not feasible to do biometric 
screenings with the initial launch.  The State 
requests that employees could self-report 
these values if they have them, but biometric 
values will NOT be required for health 
assessment completion during the initial 
launch. 
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Page 24, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, F. Technical Requirements.   Please 
clarify whether or not the successful vendor 
will be expected to manage the chronic 
conditions listed in the grid on page 24 – 
Asthma, COPD, Diabetes, CHF, CAD, 
Musculoskeletal, Depression, Back Pain, 
Cancer, and Pregnancy?   

Currently the State does not have a DM 
program and is interested in Disease 
Management capabilities as they integrate 
with wellness.  Please describe your 
approach to DM, whether it is a traditional 
model or a modified DM approach, if you 
outsource or manage internally and costs for 
such services.  If you do not provide these 
services, please indicate as such.  The State 
will evaluate the scope of all available 
services and determine which services to 
implement now and those considered for a 
later date. 

Page 24, IV. Project Description and Scope 
of Work, F. Technical Requirements.  How 
does the State define “Care Gaps” which is 
listed under Chronic Conditions (DM)?  

The State is interested in both DM focused 
and wellness/preventive focused care gaps, 
that follow evidence-based medicine and 
standards of care.  The State understands 
that different vendors may have different 
definitions of care gaps.  Please respond with 
an explanation of your approach to care 
gaps. 

Where in Attachment A, Pricing for Wellness 
Program should pricing be provided for the 
Chronic Condition (DM) programs? 

Please provide your DM pricing based on 
your program model and fee structure.  
Attachment A defines an Other category 
under #9 Incidentals.  Please provide all DM 
programs and pricing under this category. 

What prevalence assumptions should bidders 
use for each of the Chronic Conditions?  To 
facilitate the State’s efforts to conduct an 
“apples to apples” bidders’ comparison, 
pricing should be based on consistent 
prevalence numbers instead of bidders’ 
individual book of business numbers. 

The State does not have any prevalence data 
available.  Please use either industry 
standard averages or averages based on 
your book of business. 
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Page 22, Section IV. Project Description and 
Scope of Work, B. Project Environment.  We 
are trying to understand to what degree 
Disease Management (DM) plays a role in 
the State’s Wellness Program based on the 
language in the RFP – “For the Purpose of 
this RFP, Wellness Program(s) is assumed to 
include Disease Management Programs as 
required for various Chronic Conditions for 
those enrolled.”  Are we to assume that the 
State desires more of a “DM Lite” program 
model whereby participants are managed 
based on their input in the Health Risk 
Assessment (HRA) tool and/or Biometric 
Screening results?  Or will the successful 
vendor manage a more comprehensive DM 
program and receive claims data from the 
State in order to proactively identify, outreach 
and engage individuals with the Chronic 
Conditions?   

See answer to Question 8. 

Page 31, V. Proposal Instructions.  Should 
responses to the subdivisions of the Project 
Description and Scope of Work section – C. 
Project Requirements, D. Business 
Requirements, E. Scope of Work, F. 
Technical Requirements, G. Project Planning 
and Management, H. Perform 
Implementation, I, Provide Post 
Implementation Support and J. Deliverables – 
be provided before or after the four (4) 
sections of the Technical Proposal in the 
hardcopy submission?  We are assuming 
that the subdivisions should follow A. 4. 
Technical Approach, but wish to confirm the 
order desired by the State.    

The State recommends your proposal 
response be structured in the same order as 
the RFP. 

 

Page 35, V. Proposal Instructions, B. Cost 
Proposal Requirements, 1. Pricing Summary. 
 The RFP states that bidders must present 
the total fixed price.  Please clarify if the “total 
fixed price” should be a fixed program fee 
that remains constant for all five (5) contract 
years or are CPI escalators acceptable? 

The State is looking for vendors to provide 
component pricing for each of the various 
program requirements on a fixed price basis. 
It is not the desire of the State to pay one 
annual fee.  The State does not require that 
the same fee apply to all 5 years, however a 
fee must be provided for each of the 5 years.  

CPI escalators are not acceptable.  

Attachment A, Pricing for Wellness Program. 
 Is the Onsite Client Manager in Attachment A 
the same as the Wellness Coordinator 
referenced in the RFP?   
If no, what are the duties/responsibilities of 
the Onsite Client Manager? 

The Attachment A of RFP is hereby amended 
to omit any reference to an “Onsite Client 
Manager (assumes full time at State)” to be 
replaced by “Wellness Coordinator”.  The 
State does not require the Wellness 
Coordinator to be full time at the State. 
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What is the State’s projected budget for the 
Wellness Program, including the 
management of Chronic Conditions (DM)? 

The total estimated value of the contract or 
projected budget for this project is not 
included in the Request for Proposal as the 
State urges all prospective bidders to 
respond with their most competitive bid based 
on their proposed solution to the project 
objectives as outlined in the Request for 
Proposal and not one based on an estimated 
value of the contract or projected budget.  
The State has developed an adequate 
budget for the scope of services included in 
this RFP. 

Page 16, III. Terms and Conditions, DD. 
Performance Bond. Will there be measurable 
performance objectives that are defined and 
agreed upon prior to the contract start date 
relative to the exercise of the $200,000 
Bond? 

No, the performance bond is required as 
listed in Section I.A Schedule of Events, #10. 

Page 1, I. Scope of the Request for Proposal, 
A. Schedule of Events.  Can the State define 
Contractor Start Date? 
Is the successful vendor expected to have 
successfully established an eligibility feed by 
this date and be fully operational from a 
systems perspective in order to have 
participants take the HRA online?  Or is this 
the date that the State would like to begin the 
visibility campaign for the program via Open 
Enrollment activities with the formal launch of 
the program occurring the following month?  

The State intends to start the contract with 
the wellness vendor on April 1, 2009.  The 
State intends to conduct statewide 
educational meetings the week of April 13, 
2009.  The wellness vendor is expected to 
participate in these statewide educational 
meetings.  The State intends for the wellness 
vendor to have the Health Assessment up 
and running by April 20, 2009, the start of the 
open enrollment period.  Communication 
pieces for this initial launch are nearly 
complete and will just need vendor details 
laid into the designed communication piece.  
Moving forward the State will work with the 
selected vendor to utilize communication 
templates and verbiage. 

Does the State collect both employees’ home 
and cellular phone numbers?  What 
percentage of the phone numbers received 
are accurate? 

The State collects home and cellular phone 
numbers through their online open enrollment 
process.  Accuracy of these numbers is not 
confirmed by the State. 

What percentage of the State’s employees 
has access to computers and the internet in 
order to access online educational 
information or complete a health risk 
assessment (HRA)?   

To the best of our knowledge, all employees 
would have access to a computer through 

their State Agency. 
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The State desires a contractor start date of 
4/1/09, however, the employee benefit plan 
start date is reflected as 7/1.  It is also noted 
that HRA tools and member communications 
should be available for Open Enrollment on 
4/13/09.  Please clarify which services are 
expected to be available on 4/1/09, any 
additional services that should be available 
on 4/13/09, and those that can commence on 
the plan start date, 7/1/09, when claims data 
becomes available (eg., in order to start the 
Disease Management ID and Stratification 
process). 

The State intends to start the contract with 
the wellness vendor on April 1, 2009.  The 
State intends to conduct statewide 
educational meetings the week of April 13, 
2009.  The wellness vendor is expected to 
participate in these statewide educational 
meetings.  The State intends for the wellness 
vendor to have the Health Assessment up 
and running by April 20, 2009, the start of the 
open enrollment period.  Communication 
pieces for this initial launch are nearly 
complete and will just need vendor details 
laid into the designed communication piece.  
Moving forward the State will work with the 
selected vendor to utilize communication 
templates and verbiage. 

 

Please clarify what is meant by a "fixed-price 
contract."  Is the state looking for a fixed total 
contract price, fixed year-over-year rates for 
PMPM pricing, etc? 

The State is looking for vendors to provide 
component pricing for each of the various 
program requirements on a fixed price basis. 
 It is not the desire of the State to pay one 
annual fee.  The State is open to an activity 
based pricing model based on participant 
engagement. 

Re: Terms and Conditions, Section A: 
 General -- outlines various pieces of 
documents that will be incorporated into the 
contract, but can the contract also 
incorporate additional items (such as our 
standard contract and work order language)? 

These items are not among those specified.  
Bidder is free to submit any material in  
bidder’s proposal response as it wishes.  The 
State will accept or reject the additional 
materiel as necessary and appropriate. 

Re: Section Y. Early Termination, Clause #3i. 
 Please clarify what is meant by a "Vendor 
Performance Report. 

Please find a link to the “Vendor Performance 
Report” referenced in III.Y.3.i. 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasin
g/agencycommoditiesprocurementmanual/Ve
ndorPerformanceReport.doc 

 

Re:  Page 18, Section OO.  Proprietary 
Information -- It states that all proprietary 
information the bidder wishes the State to 
withhold must be submitted in a sealed 
package, which is separate from the 
remainder of the proposal.  Do we still need 
to submit an original and 6 copies of all 
proprietary materials in the separate 
package? 

Yes, an original and six (6) copies of all 
proprietary materials should be submitted in a 
separate package.  

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/agencycommoditiesprocurementmanual/VendorPerformanceReport.doc
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/agencycommoditiesprocurementmanual/VendorPerformanceReport.doc
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/agencycommoditiesprocurementmanual/VendorPerformanceReport.doc
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Please define/describe Population Based 
Health Challenges as a program, as 
referenced on page 24 of the RFP.  Does this 
refer to something like "10,000 Steps" or a 
"Biggest Loser" program, for example? 

Yes, the State is looking for population based 
activities that reinforce healthy behaviors and 
encourage the entire group to participate, not 
just targeted individuals. 

Is it the State's expectation that the dedicated 
Wellness Coordinator and the on-site Client 
Manager be separate roles, or can the two 
functions be performed by one person? 

See answer to Question 38. 

 

Is the selected vendor expected to 
incorporate existing worksite wellness 
programs into the comprehensive State of 
Nebraska wellness program at inception? 

The State does not intend to incorporate 
existing worksite wellness programs into the 
comprehensive State wellness program at 
inception. 

Is it a budgetary or state policy not to offer 
monetary incentives as part of the wellness 
program for participant engagement? 

State statute does not allow the State to offer 
monetary incentives to employees. 

Is the State considering benefit plan design 
as a vehicle to replace monetary incentives? 

Yes. 

Please identify the State's PPO carrier, PBM 
and TPA? 

The State of Nebraska health plan 
administrator is Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Nebraska and the PBM is Express Scripts. 

What are the demographics and 
characteristics of the State's population?  
What percent of the population has access to 
computers? 

An employee census with age, gender and 
zip code is available upon request from the 
point of contact listed in § II (A).  

To the best of our knowledge all employees 
would have access to a computer through 
their State Agency. 

Is the Wellness Coordinator required to be 
on-site at State location during the normal 
workweek?  Is there the opportunity to 
conduct Wellness Coordinator responsibilities 
remotely and travel to State sites as 
required? 

No, the Wellness Coordinator is not required 
to be on site during the normal work week.  
The State is looking for a dedicated wellness 
coordinator that would be accessible to each 
State location to manage the program, 
interact with employees and be the face of 
wellness for the State. The Wellness 
Coordinator must meet the requirements as 
shown in Section IV.F.6 on page 28 of the 
RFP.   

Will selected vendor of Wellness Program 
have access to claims and Rx data?  If yes, 
what is the historical period of data available? 

Yes, claims and Rx data will be available for 
the prior two (2) years. 

Does the State have experience with an 
existing Disease Management program?  If 
yes, what is the % of the population 
engaged?  If yes, what have been the results 
in terms of savings or return on investment? 

Currently the State does not have a DM 
program. 
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Can you confirm that all 14,000 ee's under 
benefit coverage would be eligible to 
participate in these Wellness Programs? 

See answer to Question 23. 

Will be there be an incentive to participate in 
these programs? (i.e. $25 for completing the 
HRA?)  If so, do you want us to provide 
Incentive Administration? 

There will not be an incentive to participate in 
the wellness program.  The wellness health 
plan is available only to employees 
participating in the wellness program.  

If we have any requested changes to the 
wording in the terms & conditions, do we 
provide the suggested change in a separate 
"Deviations" document?, and then sign & 
initial the line next to that section/paragraph? 
(for example, our insurance requirements 
may be different, but still meet requirements) 

Yes. 

Can you provide the criteria in terms of 
weighting the final evaluation? (i.e. 30% 
price, 50% response to questions, 20% 
adherence to terms, etc.) 

Please reference Section II.K that states as 
follows:  …“Evaluation criteria will become 
public information at the time of the Request 
for Proposal opening.  Evaluation criteria and 
a list of respondents will be posted to the 
State Purchasing Bureau website at 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasin
g/rfp.htm  Evaluation criteria will not be 
released prior to the proposal opening.”    

  

The scope of work states that the State of 
Nebraska is requesting proposals for an 
integrated Wellness Program that includes 
health risk assessment tools, educational 
content, health tools and resources, on-line 
and on-site educational programs, on-line 
activity tracking, telephonic health coaching, 
comprehensive reporting, and day-to-day on-
site management.  Is the State of Nebraska 
seeking one vendor who will provide all of 
these services or can a vendor bid on a 
portion of the services?  If the provider 
doesn’t have to provide all of the services, but 
specific services are required, please outline 
the mandatory services.  Please confirm that 
providing a Wellness Coordinator is 
mandatory and also confirm whether or not 
this individual needs to reside in Nebraska. 

The State is seeking one vendor to provide 
all of the services.  Providing a Wellness 
Coordinator is mandatory.  The Wellness 
Coordinator is not required to be on site 
during the normal work week.  The State is 
looking for a dedicated wellness coordinator 
that would be accessible to each State 
location to manage the program, interact with 
employees and be the face of wellness for 
the State. The Wellness Coordinator must 
meet the requirements as shown in Section 
IV.F.6 on page 28 of the RFP.   

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
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The Cost Proposal Requirements Section 
states this is a “fixed price proposal”.  That 
being said is it the desire of the State of 
Nebraska to pay one annual fee to the 
provider regardless of the employee 
engagement and employee activity?  Is the 
State of Nebraska open to an activity based 
pricing model? 

The State is looking for vendors to provide 
component pricing for each of the various 
program requirements on a fixed price basis. 
 It is not the desire of the State to pay one 
annual fee.  The State is open to an activity 
based pricing model based on participant 
engagement. 

Does this proposal only cover the 14,000 
employees or are adult dependents also 
included? 

The initial implementation includes only 
benefit eligible employees.  Spouses are 
being considered for year 2.  Adult children 
are not being considered at this time. 

Does the State of Nebraska have a budget 
for this program and can you share this dollar 
amount? 

See answer to Question 39. 

The contract period begins on 4/1 and open 
enrollment begins on 4/13, but the plan year 
begins on 7/1. Are we correct in assuming 
that the state wishes to communicate the 
wellness program to its employees during 
open enrollment, but the employees will not 
actually participate in the program until 7/1? 

The State intends to start the contract with 
the wellness vendor on April 1, 2009.  The 
State intends to conduct statewide 
educational meetings the week of April 13, 
2009.  The wellness vendor is expected to 
participate in these statewide educational 
meetings.  The State intends for the wellness 
vendor to have the Health Assessment up 
and running by April 20, 2009, the start of the 
open enrollment period.  Communication 
pieces for this initial launch are nearly 
complete and will just need vendor details 
laid into the designed communication piece.  
Moving forward the State will work with the 
selected vendor to utilize communication 
templates and verbiage. 

 

Is eligibility limited to those employees who 
select the new PPO plan coverage? What 
about dependents? 

It is the State’s intent to allow all eligible 
employees to have access to the wellness 
program.  However to take advantage of the 
wellness medical plan design benefits, they 
must complete the wellness program criteria. 
Spouses are being considered for year 2.  
Adult children are not being considered at 
this time. 

 

The RFP indicates that the state cannot offer 
financial incentives. Can the vendor? If not, 
why not? 

State Statutes prohibit State employees from 
accepting incentives in any form from any 
entity at any time. 

Who is the TPA for the new PPO plan? The State of Nebraska health plan 
administrator is Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Nebraska and the PBM is Express Scripts. 
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What wellness/DM programs are currently 
offered state employees and what is the 
participation experience? 

Several state agencies offer worksite 
wellness programs.  The State does not offer 
DM programs.  No participation experience is 
available. 

What are the success criteria for this new 
wellness program? 

A reduction in medical trend for the State of 
Nebraska over time. 

What portion of state employees have a 
state-issued email address? 

 99.4% of State employees have State e-mail 
addresses. 

II.  Procurement Instructions  
Section G 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  The instructions 
state “the technical and cost proposals 
should be presented in separate sections”. 
To clarify, can they be included in the same 
binder, separated by tabs or do they need to 
be in separate binders? 

Technical and cost proposals can be 
provided in a single binder separated by tabs. 

III. Terms and Conditions 
Terms and Conditions F.4 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Should the 
certificate of insurance be included as an 
attachment to the terms and conditions or 
should it be included within a different section 
of our response?  

The Certificate of Insurance should be 
included as a separate tab within the bidder’s 
proposal response.  
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III. Terms and Conditions 
Terms and Conditions Instructions 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Is a binding 
signature of intent to comply with the terms 
and conditions needed in addition to 
accepting and initialing where indicated? 

Please reference Section III. first three (3)  
paragraphs that state as follows: 
 
“By signing the “Request For Proposal For 
Contractual Services” form, the bidder 
guarantees compliance with the provisions 
stated in this Request for Proposal, agrees to 
the terms and conditions and certifies bidder 
maintains a drug free work place environment. 
 
Bidders are expected to closely read the Terms 
and Conditions and provide a binding signature 
of intent to comply with such terms and 
conditions.  Additionally, bidder must clearly 
identify by subsection number, and exceptions 
to the terms and conditions and include an 
explanation as to why the bidder cannot comply 
with the specific term and condition and a 
statement recommending terms and conditions 
the bidder would find acceptable.  Rejection of 
these terms and conditions may be cause for 
rejection of a bidder’s proposal. 
 
Bidders must affirmatively accept each and all 
of the terms and conditions of this RFP by 
affixing their initials on the space provided, 
which is indicated by the words “Accept & 
Initial.” 

 

III. Terms and Conditions 
Terms and Conditions WW 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Is the disaster 
recovery plan required with our proposal 
response or upon contract award? 

The disaster recovery plan should be 
included in bidder’s proposal response. 

III. Terms and Conditions 
Form A- Bidder Contact Sheet 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Where should the 
signed copy of Form A be included in our 
response? As part of the technical response 
or as a separate piece? 

Form A should be included as a separate tab 
within the bidder’s proposal response. 

 

.  

 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
A. Project Overview:   
Employee Locations  
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Can you provide a 
census of your employees and locations?  It 
would be beneficial to know the number of 
locations employees are located and the 
number of employees per location by town or 
city and zip code. 

An employee census with age, gender and 
zip code is available upon request from the 
point of contact listed in § II (A). 
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IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
A. Project Overview:   
Eligible employees/participation: 
You mention 17,000 total employees, of 
which suggest 14,000 enroll in benefits. 
However, you also suggest in the proposal 
that those employees who not enrolled in the 
“new” PPO plan with wellness will not have 
access to any of the wellness programs.  We 
are seeking clarity on the population elgibility 
for the wellness program, especially in light of 
your project requirements, need for 
participation projections and pricing from 
vendors.   
QUESTIONS/REQUESTS:  Provided our 
interpretation of the RFP, please clarify or 
answer the following: 
 

d) What will be the criteria for 
enrollment into the new PPO health 
plan?  Is it completion of the HRA 
only?  If that is the case an the HRA 
is embedded in the wellness website, 
how will you want to address 
employee access to the wellness 
website (provided by the vendor) 
which is part of the wellness program 
for those employees who did not take 
the HRA or meet the criteria (yet are 
on the eligibility file)?  Do you plan to 
remove their access to the website 

e) Do you have a projection for what 
level of employee enrollment in the 
new PPO plan?  Please confirm 
number of employees and total lives 
(including dependents) eligible for the 
wellness Programs.  Also confirm 
number for the disease management 
and related programs. 

It is the State’s intent to allow all eligible 
employees to have access to the wellness 
program.  However to take advantage of the 
wellness medical plan design benefits, they 
must complete the wellness program criteria. 
Following is a description of the expected 
eligibility criteria for the wellness program and 
wellness medical plan designs, including 
future enhancements. 
 

a)  Wellness Medical Plan Eligibility 
Access to this plan, for the benefits year 
2009/2010, is dependent upon employees 
completing the Health Assessment during 
open enrollment (April 20 – May 18, 2009).    
Access to this plan going forward, will require 
benefit eligible employees to complete 
defined activities, prior to open enrollment of 
the following year. 

 

Three Year Approach:  
 Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2010/2011 requirements: 
Completion of the following between July 1, 
2009 & March 31, 2010 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- One Wellness Activity 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2011/2012 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2010 & March 31, 2011 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Two Wellness Activities 
 
Access to the Wellness Medical Plan for 
benefits year 2012/2013 requirements: 
Completion of the following between April 1, 
2011 & March 31, 2012 
- Health Assessment 
- Biometric Screening 
- Three Wellness Activities 
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f) Stated as one of your project 
requirements is to “have a total 
population focus.”   Can you address 
or clarify this objective in light of your 
offering the wellness program only to 
a select group based on some form 
of criteria (initial HRA completion), 
you may be eliminating the 
opportunity for a full and total 
population approach to your entire 
employee base.  Additionally, this 
creates additional communication 
burdens in ensuring who gets what 
communications, or qualifying each 
population announcement.  Also, this 
may also affect long term 
receptiveness to outreach in ongoing 
years. 

Wellness Program Eligibility 
 
All benefit eligible employees will have 
access to complete the health assessment 
during 2009/2010 open enrollment, which is 
the entry point for access to the Wellness 
Medical Plan for this benefits year only. All 
benefit eligible employees will have access to 
all on-line tools and resources.  Additional 
programs will be determined by vendor 
engagement. 
 
This allows a comprehensive program 
approach to be rolled out to the entire 
population, creating a supportive culture of 
health and driving behavior change 
throughout the organization. 

b) The State’s goal for participation in the 
wellness health plan design for the July 1, 
2009 plan year is 20%.  Spouses are being 
considered for year 2.  Adult children are not 
being considered at this time.  In addition to 
the total benefit eligible employees, there are 
6,090 spouses currently on the health plans.  
The same number of employees and 
spouses would be eligible for the DM 
programs. 

c)  See answer to 80 a) above. 
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IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
A. Project Overview:   
Timeline & Launch; Communications & 
Incentive 
The RFP indicates that there could be as little 
as a 2 week timeline for program 
implementation—from projected contractor 
start date of 4/1/09 to required or planned go 
live date of 4/13/09 (communications and 
health assessment).  Please address the 
following related questions and information 
requests (below) relative to program 
implementation, incentive design and 
execution, communications, program launch 
scope and overall timeline—especially in light 
of the fact that most standard launches 
require 8-16 weeks based on scope, level of 
advanced communication, etc. from a best 
practice standpoint. 
QUESTIONS/REQUESTS: 

g) What is your proposed Health 
Assessment campaign schedule—
including communications, 
assessment availability to 
employees, and tie in to benefit 
incentive? 

a, b and c)  The State intends to start the 
contract with the wellness vendor on April 1, 
2009.  The State intends to conduct 
statewide educational meetings the week of 
April 13, 2009.  The wellness vendor is 
expected to participate in these statewide 
educational meetings.  The State intends for 
the wellness vendor to have the Health 
Assessment up and running by April 20, 
2009, the start of the open enrollment period. 
Communication pieces for this initial launch 
are nearly complete and will just need vendor 
details laid into the designed communication 
piece.  Moving forward the State will work 
with the selected vendor to utilize 
communication templates and verbiage. 

d)  To be eligible to participate in the wellness 
health plan design, employees must 
complete the requirements of the wellness 
program.  The relative financial value has not 
been determined as yet.  See answer to 
Question 1 for the development of the 
wellness health plan eligibility over three 
years and beyond. 
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h) Do you expect the selected vendor-
partner to provide communication 
suite of templates to be used 
effective 4/13, or prior?  If so, will this 
be sufficient time to promote the 
program? 

i) Has there already been advanced 
communication and promotion of the 
wellness program and health 
assessment?  If so, can you share 
the communications plan and 
materials so we may align our 
proposal responses with your 
marketing efforts? 

j) What is your specific incentive design 
and how will it be applied?  What is 
its relative financial value to 
employees? And how will your 
incentive plan develop over the 
coming 5 years (e.g., will it only be for 
assessment, or will it apply to other 
health improvement initiatives?) 

k) Do you envision or plan for annual 
health assessment every year during 
benefit enrollment?  Or do you plan 
to re-adjust your assessment and 
annual wellness program cycle to a 
different time frame?  And if so, what 
is it? 

l) Is the state aware of the necessary 
role(s) it will also have in the 
suggested timeline for program 
launch (e.g., Unique id for 
participants (e.g. employee id); 
Eligibility file – file upload using 
specified process; URL decision and 
branding; etc.) 

e)  See answer to Question 1 for the 
development of the wellness health plan 
eligibility over three (3) years and beyond.   

f)  Yes, the state is aware of the 
necessary roles it will also have in the 
suggested timeline for program launch. 
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IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
B.  Project Environment 
"The Wellness Program is expected to evolve 
over the first three years of the program."    
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Can the State 
provide some insight into how you expect the 
programs to evolve over the 3 years?  When 
would the disease management programs roll 
out for example? 
"The State is considering alternative 
participation strategies to ensure a high level 
of engagement" 

See answer to Question 1. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
B.  Project Environment 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  What is the State 
considering as alternative participation 
strategies? 

The State is evaluating participation 
strategies allowed within the boundaries of 
state statute. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
B.  Project Environment 
General Questions 
QUESTION/REQUEST: Is there a current 
Chronic Condition (DM) program in place?  Is 
so, who is the vendor and what programs? 

Currently the State does not have a DM 
program in place. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
B.  Project Environment 
General Questions 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Does the State have 
prevalence rates or claims costs for the 
desired   chronic conditions? 

See answer to Question 34. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
C.  Project Requirements-  
"The employee must actively participate in 
the Wellness Programs to continue to have 
access to this PPO plan." 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Does active 
participation include mandatory participation 
in DM programs- if applicable? 

The State has not defined the DM program 
criteria at this time. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
C.  Project Requirements-  
State of Nebraska Health Plan 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Who is your carrier 
for your health plan(s) and PPO? And who 
will provide the “wellness plan” PPO?  Do 
they offer condition management and will that 
be accessible to employees? 

The State of Nebraska’s health plan 
administrator is Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Nebraska and the PBM is Express Scripts.  
The administrators for the wellness health 
plan will be the same.  Disease management 
is not currently offered through these 
administrators. 
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IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
F. Technical Requirements and Program 
Scope 
1. Program Components  
The pricing document provided and the 
Technical Requirements questions sections 
does reflect several of the scope of service 
areas listed in your program Description 
Table in the Technical Requirements 
section—specifically:  Chronic Condition 
programs; pregnancy; Care Gaps and 
preventive/self-care reminders; newsletter.   
QUESTION/REQUEST:  please clarify how 
these scope of services fit into the overall 
program plan, its timing, and priorities—e.g., 
are these “later stage” initiatives that you are 
assessing if the vendor has the ability to 
deliver, but may not need the selected vendor 
to deliver on in the first year?  Please address 
and outline your projected 5-year plan 
 

See answer to Question 1. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
F. Technical Requirements and Program 
Scope 
1. Program Components  
The pricing document provided and the 
Technical Requirements questions sections 
does reflect several of the scope of service 
areas listed in your program Description 
Table in the Technical Requirements 
section—specifically:  Chronic Condition 
programs; pregnancy; Care Gaps and 
preventive/self-care reminders; newsletter.   
QUESTION/REQUEST:  What is the State's 
expectation of a pregnancy program listed 
under Chronic Conditions (DM)?  High risk 
pregnancy only or a program available to all 
employees/dependents who are pregnant? 

The State has not defined the pregnancy 
program criteria at this time and will assess 
vendor responses. 

IV. Project Description & Scope of Work 
F. Technical Requirements and Program 
Scope 
6. Dedicated Wellness Coordinator 
You provide a thorough description of the 
Wellness Coordinator—a “dedicated person.” 
  
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Please confirm or 
clarify that by “dedicated” what level of FTE 
(e.g., 1.0 FTE--full time) person you have in 
mind, as well as if the individual is to be 
located at a State of NE primary location 

The Wellness Coordinator is not required to 
be on site during the normal work week.  The 
State is looking for a dedicated wellness 
coordinator that would be accessible to each 
State location to manage the program, 
interact with employees and be the face of 
wellness for the State. The Wellness 
Coordinator must meet the requirements as 
shown in Section IV.F.6 on page 28 of the 
RFP.  It is expected that this will be a full time 
position. 
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V.  Proposal Instructions 
The instructions state “bidders should identify 
the subdivisions of ‘project description and 
scope of work’ clearly in their proposals”.  
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Should the project 
description and scope of work be included as 
a tab within the technical proposal or as a 
separate binder? 

The project description and scope of work 
should be included as a tab within the 
technical proposal. 

 

V.  Proposal Instructions 
Corporate Overview 3 h:  i and ii 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Please clarify the 
request for references (3) for both lead 
contractor as well as subcontractor.  Are 3 
references required for each subcontractor, 
and what level of detail is required for 
subcontractor references (e.g., exact same 
as for contractor)? 
The RFP requests comprehensive references 
in V-A-3-h-ii, yet it also requests public entity 
references in section IV-D-5?   

References required are for the lead 
contractor.  If the lead contractor is proposing 
a subcontractor, references should be from 
client on those projects that subcontractors 
have worked with the lead contractor.   The 
State is interested in both private and public 
entity references. 

V.  Proposal Instructions 
Corporate Overview 3 h:  i and ii 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Please clarify how 
you expectation for providing references in 
light of these two questions/requests. 

See answer to Question 92. 

V.  Proposal Instructions 
Corporate Overview : 3j 
Subcontractors iii and iv- Page 34- 
 "Percentage of performance hours intended 
for each subcontract and total percentage of 
subcontractors performance hours" 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Please clarify 
State's definition of performance hours.  Are 
you referring to hours intended for launching 
the program, identification, communications, 
data mining of candidates, outreach, average 
coaching       hours per participant, reporting, 
etc.? 

The intent of the State is to see how much of 
the program requirements are performed by 
the lead contractor and how much is 
performed by a subcontractor.  The State will 
accept a general estimate of this percentage 
based on the current experience of the lead 
contractor with subcontractors. 
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V.  Proposal Instructions 
B. Cost Proposal and Requirements 
Attachment A- Pricing for Wellness Program 
The pricing document provided does not 
include several of the scope of service areas 
listed in your program Description Table in 
the Technical Requirements section—
specifically:  Chronic Condition programs; 
pregnancy; Care Gaps and preventive/self-
care reminders; newsletter.   
QUESTION/REQUEST:  please clairify if/how 
your would like these areas priced for the 
proposal, for which conditions and/or 
services, and preferred pricing- e.g., PEPM or 
PMPM? 

See answer to Question 33. 

V.  Proposal Instructions 
B. Cost Proposal and Requirements 
1.  Fixed Pricing 
QUESTION/REQUEST:  Please define or 
clarify “fixed pricing” for this proposal. 
Specifically, is this fixed unit price per 
program component, that may be priced 
either per participant or per eligible per 
month, or is this a fixed annual total programs 
cost (which may be difficult due to varied 
employee eligibility and participation levels, 
especially based on what the incentive plan 
may be). 

See answer to Question 64. 

The State mentions that it is unable to 
provide monetary incentives for participation 
in the Wellness Program. When the State 
defines monetary incentives; is the State 
referring to cash, payroll contributions, 
premium contributions, health savings 
accounts, and or health reimbursement 
accounts? 
Subsequently, does the State define non-
monetary incentives as brand-name 
merchandise, entertainment, adventure 
packages, travel packages, and or personal 
services? 

All incentives described in this question are 
considered to be monetary incentives. 
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The State has expressed interest in 
considering an alternative participation 
strategy to ensure high level of engagement.   
In consideration of alternative approaches is 
the State interested in receiving proposals 
from vendors who have actuarial and 
clinically verified health enhancement 
programs proven to change lifestyle behavior, 
and in turn, eliminate and mitigate risks?    

The State will consider any alternative 
approaches to employee engagement.  

The State has expressed interest in 
considering an alternative participation 
strategy to ensure high level of engagement.   
Is the State interested in vendors who will 
provide a program guaranteeing 100% of the 
costs associated with the program?  

The State will consider any alternative 
approaches to employee engagement. 

What is the size of the population expected to 
enroll in the PPO health plan?  In IV C, you 
state that it will only be individuals enrolled in 
the new PPO plan.  If a wellness solution will 
integrate all plans, would the State consider 
offering the program to the population as a 
whole? 

The State is targeting first year participation 
in the wellness health plan of 20%. It is the 
State’s intent to allow all eligible employees 
to have access to the wellness program.  
However to take advantage of the wellness 
medical plan design benefits, they must 
complete the wellness program criteria. 

Can the State please provide the expected 
time constraints for Section IV H? 

The State intends to start the contract with 
the wellness vendor on April 1, 2009.  The 
State intends to conduct statewide 
educational meetings the week of April 13, 
2009.  The wellness vendor is expected to 
participate in these statewide educational 
meetings.  The State intends for the wellness 
vendor to have the Health Assessment up 
and running by April 20, 2009, the start of the 
open enrollment period.  Communication 
pieces for this initial launch are nearly 
complete and will just need vendor details 
laid into the designed communication piece.  
Moving forward the State will work with the 
selected vendor to utilize communication 
templates and verbiage. 

 

Will the State allow a portion of the cost to be 
variable? 

See answer to Question 64. 
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Can the State provide the following health 
characteristic information? 
1. Average Age  
2. Gender Distribution (% male)  
3. Average Employee Compensation  
4. Full Time (%)  
5. Union (%)  
6. Average Turnover (%)  
7. Current Health Care Costs  
8. Anticipated Health Care Trend (%)  
9. Average Employee Contributions (%)  
10. % of Employee Covered by the State’s 
Healthcare Plan  

1.  The average age of State employees is 
47.   

2.  The gender distribution is 45% male/55% 
female.   

3.  The average employee compensation is 
$38,600.   

4.  The percentage for permanent employees 
is 96.1%. 

5.  The percentage of employees covered by 
the union is 73.4%. 

6.  The average turnover is 15%. 

7.  Current healthcare costs are $900 PEPM. 

8.  Anticipated health care trend is 10 to 11%. 

9.  Average employee contributions are 21% 
of premium.   

10.  Eighty-two percent of State employees 
are covered by the State health plans. 

Can the State provide the answers to the 
following health insurance plan provider? 
1. Current Carrier:  
2. Type of plan (HMO, POS, PPO, or CDHP)  
3. Employees enrolled (%)  
4. Deductible  
5. Type of Preventive Care Coverage: i.e. 
None, Subject to Deductible, 100% after 
Copay, 100%, No Copay  
6. Preventive Care Copay (if applicable)  
7. Preventive Care Maximum Benefit 

1. The State of Nebraska health plan 
administrator is Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Nebraska and the PBM is Express Scripts. 

2.  The State currently offers a POS, HMO, 
and two PPO plan designs. 

3.  14,000 (82%) 

4.  One PPO has a $400 deductible and the 
other PPO has a $1,000 deductible.  
PLEASE NOTE: The online plan summaries 
indicate a 6 month plan year period and thus 
all deductibles represent half of their true 
limit.  

5.  See benefit options online at 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits
/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf.  on 
pages 12 and 13. 

6.  See benefit options online at 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits
/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf.  on 
pages 12 and 13. 

7.  See benefit options online at 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits
/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf.  on 
pages 12 and 13. 

http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
http://www.das.state.ne.us/personnel/benefits/2009/active/enrollment_guide_active.pdf
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The State does not have a comprehensive 
Wellness Program but did mention that a 
number of agencies within the State have 
worksite wellness activities or programs in 
place for employees.  Can the State provide 
what types of activities or programs those 
respective agencies are currently spending 
on and with whom (i.e. current providers)?  
1. Sleep Management  
2. Employee Assistance Programs  
3. Ergonomics  
4. Occupational Health  
5. Mental Health  
6. Substance Abuse  
7. Disease Management  
8. Chronic Condition  
9. Prescription Drug  
10. Maternity  
11. Well Baby  
12. Child Health  
13. Any Other Wellness Programs 

A few agencies have implemented their 
programs independently; therefore, that data 
is not available. 
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BIDDER MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 
By signing this Request For Proposal For Contractual Services form, the bidder guarantees compliance with the 
provisions stated in this Request for Proposal, agrees to the terms and conditions (see Section III) and certifies bidder 
maintains a drug free work place environment. 
 
FIRM:   

COMPLETE ADDRESS:   

TELEPHONE NUMBER:    FAX NUMBER:   

SIGNATURE:            DATE:   

TYPED NAME & TITLE OF SIGNER:   

State of Nebraska (State Purchasing Bureau) 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR 
CONTRACTUAL SERVICES FORM 

RETURN TO:  
State Purchasing Bureau  
301 Centennial Mall South, 1st Fl 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 
OR 
P.O. Box 94847 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68509-4847 
Phone: 402-471-2401 
Fax: 402-471-2089 

SOLICITATION NUMBER RELEASE DATE 

RFP 2787Z1 January 27, 2009 
OPENING DATE AND TIME PROCUREMENT CONTACT 

February 20, 2009  2:00 p.m. Central Time Ruth Gray 
This form is part of the specification package and must be signed and returned, along with proposal 

documents, by the opening date and time specified. 

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY! 
SCOPE OF SERVICE 

The State of Nebraska, Administrative Services (AS), Materiel Division, Purchasing Bureau, is issuing this Request for 
Proposal, RFP Number 2787Z1 for the purpose of selecting a qualified contractor to provide a Wellness Program for 
Nebraska State Employees. 

 
Written questions are due no later than February 6, 2009 and should be submitted via e-mail to 

matpurch.dasmat@nebraska.gov.  Written questions may also be sent by facsimile to (402) 471-2089. 
 

Bidder should submit one (1) original and six (6) copies of the entire proposal.  In the event of any inconsistencies among 
the proposals, the language contained in the original proposal shall govern.  Proposals must be submitted by the proposal 
due date and time. 
 
PROPOSALS MUST MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OUTLINED IN THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TO BE 
CONSIDERED VALID.  PROPOSALS WILL BE REJECTED IF NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THESE REQUIREMENTS. 
 

1. Sealed proposals must be received in State Purchasing by the date and time of proposal opening indicated above.  
No late proposals will be accepted.  No electronic, e-mail, fax, voice, or telephone proposals will be accepted. 

2. This form “REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES” MUST be manually signed, in ink, and 
returned by the proposal opening date and time along with bidder’s proposal and any other requirements as specified 
in the Request for Proposal in order to be considered for an award. 

3. It is the responsibility of the bidder to check the website for all information relevant to this solicitation to include 
addenda and/or amendments issued prior to the opening date.  Website address is as follows:  

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/ 
4. It is understood by the parties that in the State of Nebraska’s opinion, any limitation on the contractor’s liability is 

unconstitutional under the Nebraska State Constitution, Article XIII, Section 3, and that any limitation of liability shall 
not be binding on the State of Nebraska despite inclusion of such language in documents supplied with the 
contractor’s bid or in the final contract.

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
Addendum:  Something added or deleted. 
 
Agency:  Any state agency, board, or commission other than the University of Nebraska, the 
Nebraska State colleges, the courts, the Legislature, or any officer or agency established by the 
Constitution of Nebraska.  
 
Agent:  A person authorized by a superior or organization to act on their behalf. 
 
Amend:  To alter or change by adding, subtracting, or substituting. A contract can be amended only 
by the parties participating in the contract. A written contract can only be amended in writing. 
 
Amendment:  Written correction or alteration. 
 
Appropriation:  Legislative authorization to expend public funds for a specific purpose.  Money set 
apart for a specific use. 
 
Award:  All purchases, leases, or contracts which are based on competitive proposals will be 
awarded according to the provisions in the Request for Proposal.  The State reserves the right to 
reject any or all proposals, wholly or in part, or to award to multiple bidders in whole or in part.  The 
State reserves the right to waive any deviations or errors that are not material, do not invalidate the 
legitimacy of the proposal, and do not improve the bidder’s competitive position.  All awards will be 
made in a manner deemed in the best interest of the State. 
 
Best and Final Offer (BAFO):  A second-stage bid in a public procurement for services.  
 
Bid:  The executed document submitted by a bidder in response to a Request for Proposal. 
 
Bid Bond:  A bond given by a surety on behalf of the bidder to ensure that the bidder will enter into 
the contract as bid and is retained by the State from the date of the bid opening to the date of contract 
signing. 
 
Bidder:  Any person or entity submitting a competitive bid response to a solicitation. 
 
Business:  Any corporation, partnership, individual, sole proprietorship, joint-stock company, joint 
venture, or any other private legal entity. 
 
Business Day:  Any weekday, excepting public holidays. 
 
Calendar Day:  Every day shown on the calendar; Saturdays, Sundays and State/Federal holidays 
included.  Not to be confused with “Work Day”. 
 
Collusion:  A secret agreement or cooperation between two or more persons or entities to 
accomplish a fraudulent, deceitful or unlawful purpose. 
 
Competition:  The process by which two or more vendors vie to secure the business of a purchaser 
by offering the most favorable terms as to price, quality, delivery and/or service. 
 
Confidential Information: Unless otherwise defined below, “Confidential Information” shall also 
mean proprietary trade secrets, academic and scientific research work which is in progress and 
unpublished, and other information which if released would give advantage to business competitors 
and serve no public purpose (see Neb. Rev. Stat. §84-712.05(3)).  In accordance with Nebraska 
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Attorney General Opinions 92068 and 97033, proof that information is proprietary requires 
identification of specific, named competitor(s) who would be advantaged by release of the information 
and the specific advantage the competitor(s) would provide. 
 
Contract:  An agreement between two or more persons to perform a specific act or acts.  
 
Contract Administration:  The Management of various facets of contracts to assure that the 
contractors total performance is in accordance with the contractual commitments and obligations to 
the purchaser are fulfilled. 
 
Contract Management:  Includes reviewing and approving of changes, executing renewals, handling 
disciplinary actions, adding additional users, and any other form of action that could change the 
contract.  
 
Contractor:  Any person or entity that supplies goods and/or services. 
 
Copyright:  A grant to a writer/artist that recognizes sole authorship/creation of a work and protects 
the creator’s interest(s) therein.   
 
Default:  The omission or failure to perform a contractual duty.  
 
Deviation: Any proposed change(s) or alteration(s) to either the contractual language or deliverables 
within the scope of this Request for Proposal.   
 
Evaluation Committee:  A committee (or committees) appointed by the requesting agency that 
advises and assists the procuring office in the evaluation of proposals. 
 
Evaluation of Proposal:  The process of examining a proposal after opening to determine the 
bidder’s responsibility, responsiveness to requirements, and to ascertain other characteristics of the 
proposal that relate to determination of the successful bidder. 
 
Extension:  A provision, or exercise of a provision, of a contract that allows a continuance of the 
contract (at the option of the State of Nebraska) for an additional time according to contract 
conditions.  Not to be confused with “Renewals.” 
 
F.O.B. Destination:  Free on Board. The delivery charges have been included in the quoted price 
and prepaid by the vendor.  Vendor is responsible for all claims associated with damages during 
delivery of product. 
 
Foreign Corporation:  A foreign corporation is a corporation that was formed (i.e. incorporated) in 
another state but transacting business in Nebraska pursuant to a certificate of authority issued by the 
Nebraska Secretary of State. 
 
HIPAA:  A federal law passed in 1996 that allows persons to qualify immediately for comparable 
health insurance coverage when they change their employment or relationships.  It also creates the 
authority to mandate the use of standards for the electronic exchange of health care data; to specify 
what medical and administrative code sets should be used within those standards; to require the use 
of national identification systems for health care patients, providers, payers (or plans), and employers 
(or sponsors); and to specify the types of measures required to protect the security and privacy of 
personally identifiable health care.  Full name is “The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 
Act of 1996.” 
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Late Proposal: A proposal received at the place specified in the solicitation after the date and time 
designated for all proposals to be received. 
 
Licensed Software:  Any and all software and documentation by which the State acquires or is 
granted any rights under the contract. 
 
Mandatory:  Required, compulsory or obligatory.  
 
May:  Denotes discretion. 
 
Must:  Denotes the imperative, required, compulsory or obligatory.   
 
Opening Date:  Specified date and time for the public opening of received, labeled and sealed formal 
proposals.  Not to be confused with “Release Date”. 
 
Outsourcing:  Acquiring computing or related services from a source outside of the State of 
Nebraska which may include programming and/or executing the State’s Licensed Software on the 
State’s CPU’s, programming, and/or executing the State’s programs and Licensed Software on the 
contractor’s CPU’s or any mix thereof. 
 
Outsourcing Company:  A company that provides Outsourcing Services under contract to the State. 
 
Performance Bond:  A bond given by a surety on behalf of the contractor to ensure the timely and 
proper (in sole estimation of the State) performance of a contract.  
 
Pre-Proposal Conference:  A meeting scheduled for the purpose of providing clarification regarding 
a Request for Proposal and related expectations. 
 
Program Error:  Code in Licensed Software which produces unintended results or actions, or which 
produces results or actions other than those described in the specifications.  A program error 
includes, without limitation, any “Critical Program Error.” 
 
Project:  The total of all software, documentation, and services to be provided by the contractor under 
this contract. 
 
Proposal:  The executed document submitted by a bidder in response to a Request for Proposal. 
 
Proprietary Information:  Proprietary information is defined as trade secrets, academic and scientific 
research work which is in progress and unpublished, and other information which if released would 
give advantage to business competitors and serve no public purpose (see Neb. Rev. Stat. §84-
712.05(3)).  In accordance with Attorney General Opinions 92068 and 97033, proof that information is 
proprietary requires identification of specific, named competitor(s) who would be advantaged by 
release of the information and the specific advantage the competitor(s) would receive.   
 
Protest:  A complaint about a governmental action or decision related to a Request for Proposal or 
the resultant contract, brought by a prospective bidder, a bidder, a contractor, or other interested party 
to AS Materiel Division or another designated agency with the intention of achieving a remedial result. 
 
Public Proposal Opening:  The process of opening proposals, conducted at the time and place 
specified in the Request for Proposal, and in the presence of anyone who wishes to attend. 
 
Release Date:  Date of release of the Request for Proposal to the public for submission of proposal 
responses.  Not to be confused with “Opening Date”. 
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Renewal:  Continuance of a contract for an additional term after a formal signing by the parties.   
 
Representative:  Includes an agent, an officer of a corporation or association, a trustee, executor or 
administrator of an estate, or any other person legally empowered to act for another. 
 
Request for Proposal (RFP):  All documents, whether attached or incorporated by reference, utilized 
for soliciting competitive proposals.  
 
Responsible Bidder:  A bidder who has the capability in all respects to perform fully all requirements 
with integrity and reliability to assure good faith performance. 
 
Responsive Bidder:  A bidder who has submitted a bid which conforms in all respects to the 
solicitation document. 
 
Shall:  Denotes the imperative, required, compulsory or obligatory. 
 
Should:  Indicates an expectation. 
 
Solicitation:  The process of notifying prospective bidders or offerors that the State of Nebraska 
wishes to receive proposals for furnishing services.  The process may consist of public advertising, 
posting notices, or mailing Request for Proposals and/or Request for Proposal announcement letter to 
prospective bidders, or all of these. 
 
Solicitation Document:  Request for Proposal. 
 
Termination:  Occurs when either party pursuant to a power created by agreement or law puts an 
end to the contract.  All obligations which are still executory on both sides are discharged but any right 
based on prior breach or performance survives.  
 
Trademark:  A distinguishing sign, symbol, mark, word, or arrangement of words in the form of a label 
or other indication, that is adopted and used by a manufacturer or distributor to designate its particular 
goods and which no other person has the legal right to use. 
 
Trade Secret:  Information, including, but not limited to, a drawing, formula, pattern, compilation, 
program, device, method, technique, code, or process that; (a) derives independent economic value, 
actual or potential, from not being known to, and not being ascertainable by proper means, other 
persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (b) is the subject of efforts that 
are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy (see Neb. Rev. Stat. §87-502(4)). 
 
Vendor:  An actual or potential contractor; a contractor. 
 
Will: Denotes the imperative, required, compulsory or obligatory.
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I. SCOPE OF THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
 
The State of Nebraska, Administrative Services (AS), Materiel Division, Purchasing Bureau (hereafter 
known as State Purchasing Bureau), is issuing this Request for Proposal, RFP Number  2787Z1 for 
the purpose of selecting a qualified contractor to provide a Wellness Program for Nebraska State 
Employees. 
  
A contract resulting from this Request for Proposal will be issued for a period of five (5) years effective 
April 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014, with the option to renew for two (2) additional one (1) year 
periods as mutually agreed upon by all parties.  
 
ALL INFORMATION PERTINENT TO THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL CAN BE FOUND ON THE 
INTERNET AT:  http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm 
 
A. SCHEDULE OF EVENTS  

The State expects to adhere to the tentative procurement schedule shown below.  It should be 
noted, however, that some dates are approximate and subject to change.  

 

ACTIVITY DATE/TIME 

1. 1 Release Request for Proposal January 27, 2009 
2.  Last day to submit written questions February 6, 2009 

3. 1 State responds to written questions through Request for 
Proposal “Addendum” and/or “Amendment” to be posted to 
the Internet at:  
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm  

February 10, 2009 

4. 1 Last day to submit “Letter of Intent To Bid”  February 12, 2009 

5. 1 Proposal opening 
Location: Nebraska State Office Building 
  State Purchasing Bureau 
  301 Centennial Mall South, Mall Level 
  Lincoln, NE 68508 

 
February 20, 2009 

2:00 PM 
Central Time 

6. 1 Review for conformance of mandatory requirements February 20, 2009 

7. 1 Evaluation period February 20 - 25, 2009 

8. 1 “Oral Interviews/Presentations and/or Demonstrations”  
(if required) 

March 2 - 3, 2009 

9. 1 Post “Letter of Intent to Contract” to Internet at: 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm  

March 5, 2009 

10. 1 Performance bond submission  March 11, 2009 

11. 1 Contract award March 20, 2009 

12. 2 Contractor start date April 1, 2009 

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
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II. PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 
 
A. PROCURING OFFICE AND CONTACT PERSON   

Procurement responsibilities related to this Request for Proposal reside with the State 
Purchasing Bureau.  The point of contact for the procurement is as follows: 

 
Name:   Ruth Gray 
Agency:  State Purchasing Bureau  
Address:  301 Centennial Mall South, Mall Level 
  Lincoln, NE  68508 
 
   OR 
 
Address: P.O. Box 94847 
  Lincoln, NE  68509 
Telephone: 402-471-2401 
Facsimile:  402-471-2089 
E-Mail:  matpurch.dasmat@nebraska.gov  
 

B. GENERAL INFORMATION  
The Request for Proposal is designed to solicit proposals from qualified vendors who will be 
responsible for providing a Wellness Program for Nebraska State Employees at a competitive 
and reasonable cost.  Proposals that do not conform to the mandatory items as indicated in 
the Request for Proposal will not be considered. 
 
Proposals shall conform to all instructions, conditions, and requirements included in the 
Request for Proposal.  Prospective bidders are expected to carefully examine all 
documentation, schedules and requirements stipulated in this Request for Proposal, and 
respond to each requirement in the format prescribed. 
 
A fixed-price contract will be awarded as a result of this proposal.  In addition to the provisions 
of this Request for Proposal and the awarded proposal, which shall be incorporated by 
reference in the contract, any additional clauses or provisions required by the terms and 
conditions will be included as an amendment to the contract. 
 

C. COMMUNICATION WITH STATE STAFF  
From the date the Request for Proposal is issued until a determination is announced regarding 
the selection of the contractor, contact regarding this project between potential contractors and 
individuals employed by the State is restricted to only written communication with the staff 
designated  above as the point of contact for this Request for Proposal.   
 
Once a contractor is preliminarily selected, as documented in the intent to contract, that 
contractor is restricted from communicating with State staff until a contract is signed.  Violation 
of this condition may be considered sufficient cause to reject a contractor’s proposal and/or 
selection irrespective of any other condition. 
 
The following exceptions to these restrictions are permitted: 
 
1. written communication with the person(s) designated as the point(s) of contact for this 

Request for Proposal or procurement; 
2. contacts made pursuant to any pre-existing contracts or obligations; and 

mailto:matpurc@notes.state.ne.us
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3. state-requested presentations, key personnel interviews, clarification sessions or 
discussions to finalize a contract. 

 
Violations of these conditions may be considered sufficient cause to reject a bidder’s proposal 
and/or selection irrespective of any other condition.  No individual member of the State, 
employee of the State, or member of the Evaluation Committee is empowered to make binding 
statements regarding this Request for Proposal.  The buyer will issue any clarifications or 
opinions regarding this Request for Proposal in writing. 
 

D. NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO BID    
Bidders should hand deliver, return by facsimile, e-mail or delivery by US mail the “Notification 
of Intent to Bid Form” that accompanies this document (see Form B) to the contact person 
shown on the cover page of the Request For Proposal Form.  This form should be filled out in 
its entirety and returned no later than the date shown in the Schedule of Events.   
 
It is preferred that Form B, Notification of Intent To Bid, be sent via e-mail to 
matpurch.dasmat@nebraska.gov, but may be hand delivered, sent via facsimile to 402-471-
2089 or delivery by US mail. 
 
A list of vendors who submitted a Notification of Intent to Bid will be posted to the State 
Purchasing Bureau website at: http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm . 
 

E. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS  
Any explanation desired by a bidder regarding the meaning or interpretation of any Request 
for Proposal provision must be submitted in writing to the State Purchasing Bureau and clearly 
marked “RFP Number 2787Z1; Wellness Program Questions”.  It is preferred that questions 
be sent via e-mail to matpurch.dasmat@nebraska.gov.  Questions may also be sent by 
facsimile to 402-471-2089, but must include a cover sheet clearly indicating that the 
transmission is to the attention of Ruth Gray, showing the total number of pages transmitted, 
and clearly marked “RFP Number 2787Z1; Wellness Program Questions”.  
 
Written answers will be provided through an addendum to be posted on the Internet at 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm on or before the date shown in the 
Schedule of Events. 
 

F. ORAL INTERVIEWS/PRESENTATIONS AND/OR DEMONSTRATIONS   
The Evaluation Committee(s) may conclude after the completion of the Technical and Cost 
Proposal evaluation that oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations are required in 
order to determine the successful bidder.  All bidders may not have an opportunity to 
interview/present and/or give demonstrations; the State reserves the right to select only the 
top scoring bidders to present/give oral interviews in its sole discretion. The scores from the 
oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations will be added to the scores from the 
Technical and Cost Proposals.  The presentation process will allow the bidders to demonstrate 
their proposal offering, explaining and/or clarifying any unusual or significant elements related 
to their proposals.  Bidders’ key personnel may be requested to participate in a structured 
interview to determine their understanding of the requirements of this proposal, their authority 
and reporting relationships within their firm, and their management style and philosophy.  
Bidders shall not be allowed to alter or amend their proposals.  Only representatives of the 
State and the presenting bidders will be permitted to attend the oral interviews/presentations 
and/or demonstrations. 
 

mailto:matpurc@notes.state.ne.us
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
mailto:matpurc@notes.state.ne.us.
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
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Once the oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations have been completed the State 
reserves the right to make a contract award without any further discussion with the bidders 
regarding the proposals received. 
 
Detailed notes of oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations may be recorded and 
supplemental information (such as briefing charts, et cetera) may be accepted; however, such 
supplemental information shall not be considered an amendment to a bidders' proposal.  
Additional written information gathered in this manner shall not constitute replacement of 
proposal contents. 
 
Any cost incidental to the oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations shall be borne 
entirely by the bidder and will not be compensated by the State. 
 

G. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS  
The following describes the requirements related to proposal submission, proposal handling 
and review by the State. 
 
To facilitate the proposal evaluation process, one (1) original, clearly identified as such, and 
six (6) copies of the entire proposal should be submitted.  The copy marked “original” shall 
take precedence over any other copies, should there be a discrepancy.  Proposals must be 
submitted by the proposal due date and time.  A separate sheet must be provided that clearly 
states which sections have been submitted as proprietary or have copyrighted materials.  All 
proprietary information the bidder wishes the State to withhold must be submitted in 
accordance with the instructions outlined in Section III, Proprietary Information.  Proposal 
responses should include the completed Form A, Bidder Contact Sheet.  Proposals must 
reference the request for proposal number and be sent to the specified address.  Container(s) 
utilized for original documents should be clearly marked “ORIGINAL DOCUMENTS”.  Please 
note that the address label should appear as specified in Section II part A on the face of each 
container or bidder’s bid response packet.  Rejected late proposals will be returned to the 
bidder unopened, if requested, at bidder's expense.  If a recipient phone number is required for 
delivery purposes, 402-471-2401 should be used.  The request for proposal number must be 
included in all correspondence. 
 
Emphasis should be concentrated on conformance to the Request for Proposal instructions, 
responsiveness to requirements, completeness and clarity of content. If the bidder’s proposal 
is presented in such a fashion that makes evaluation difficult or overly time consuming, it is 
likely that points will be lost in the evaluation process. Elaborate and lengthy proposals are 
neither necessary nor desired. 
 
The Technical and Cost Proposals should be presented in separate sections (loose-leaf 
binders are preferred) on standard 8 ½” x 11” paper, except that charts, diagrams and the like 
may be on fold-outs which, when folded, fit into the 8 ½” by 11” format.  Pages may be 
consecutively numbered for the entire proposal, or may be numbered consecutively within 
sections.  Figures and tables must be numbered consecutively within sections.  Figures and 
tables must be numbered and referenced in the text by that number.  They should be placed 
as close as possible to the referencing text. 
 

H. PROPOSAL OPENING  
The sealed proposals will be publicly opened and the bidding entities announced on the date, 
time and location shown in the Schedule of Events.  Proposals will be available for viewing by 
those present after the proposal opening. Vendors may also contact the State to schedule an 
appointment for viewing proposals after the opening date. 
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I. LATE PROPOSALS 
Proposals received after the time and date of the proposal opening will be considered late 
proposals.  Rejected late proposals will be returned to the bidder unopened, if requested, at 
bidder's expense.  The State is not responsible for proposals that are late or lost due to mail 
service inadequacies, traffic or any other reason(s). 
 

J. REJECTION OF PROPOSALS  
The State reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, wholly or in part, or to award to 
multiple bidders in whole or in part.  The State reserves the right to waive any deviations or 
errors that are not material, do not invalidate the legitimacy of the proposal and do not improve 
the bidder’s competitive position.  All awards will be made in a manner deemed in the best 
interest of the State. 
 

K. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS 
All responses to this Request for Proposal which fulfill all mandatory requirements will be 
evaluated.  Each category will have a maximum possible point potential.  The State will 
conduct a fair, impartial and comprehensive evaluation of all proposals in accordance with the 
criteria set forth below.  Areas that will be addressed and scored during the evaluation include: 
 
1. Executive Summary; 
2. Corporate Overview shall include but is not limited to; 

 
a. the ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to deliver and implement the system 

or project that meets the requirements of the Request for Proposal; 
b. the character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the 

bidder; 
c. whether the bidder can perform the contract within the specified time frame; 
d. the quality of bidder performance on prior contracts; 
e. such other information that may be secured and that has a bearing on the 

decision to award the contract; 
3. Technical Approach; and 
4. Cost Proposal.  
 
Evaluation criteria will become public information at the time of the Request for Proposal 
opening.  Evaluation criteria and a list of respondents will be posted to the State Purchasing 
Bureau website at http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm  Evaluation criteria 
will not be released prior to the proposal opening.     
 

L. EVALUATION COMMITTEE  
Proposals will be independently evaluated by members of the Evaluation Committee(s).  The 
committee(s) will consist of staff with the appropriate expertise to conduct such proposal 
evaluations.  Names of the members of the Evaluation Committee(s) will not become public 
information. 
 
Prior to award, bidders are advised that only the point of contact indicated on the front cover of 
this Request For Proposal For Contractual Services Form can clarify issues or render any 
opinion regarding this Request for Proposal.  No individual member of the State, employee of 
the State or member of the Evaluation Committee(s) is empowered to make binding 
statements regarding this Request for Proposal. 
 

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
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M. MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS  
The proposals will first be examined to determine if all mandatory requirements listed below 
have been addressed to warrant further evaluation. Proposals not meeting mandatory 
requirements will be excluded from further evaluation.  The mandatory requirement items are 
as follows: 
 
1. Signed, “in ink”, Request For Proposal For Contractual Services form; 
2. Executive Summary; 
3. Corporate Overview; 
4. Technical Approach; and 
5. Cost Proposal. 
 

N. REFERENCE CHECKS 
The State reserves the right to check any reference(s), regardless of the source of the 
reference information, including but not limited to, those that are identified by the company in 
the proposal, those indicated through the explicitly specified contacts, those that are identified 
during the review of the proposal, or those that result from communication with other entities 
involved with similar projects. 
 
Information to be requested and evaluated from references may include, but is not limited to, 
some or all of the following: project description and background, job performed, functional and 
technical abilities, communication skills and timeliness, cost and schedule estimates and 
accuracy, problems (poor quality deliverables, contract disputes, work stoppages, et cetera), 
overall performance, and whether or not the reference would rehire the firm or individual.  Only 
top scoring bidders may receive reference checks and negative references may eliminate 
bidders from consideration for award.  
 

O. SECRETARY OF STATE/TAX COMMISSIONER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS  
All bidders are expected to comply with any statutory registration requirements.  It is the 
responsibility of the bidder who is the recipient of an Intent to Award to comply with any 
statutory registration requirements pertaining to types of business entities (e.g. a foreign or 
Nebraska corporation, non-resident contractor, limited partnership, or other type of business 
entity).  The bidder who is the recipient of Intent to Award will be required to certify that it has 
so complied and produce a true and exact copy of its registration certificate, or, in the case 
registration is not required, to provide the reason as to why none is required.  This must be 
accomplished prior to the award of contract. 
 

P. VIOLATION OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Violation of the terms and conditions contained in this Request for Proposal or any resultant 
contract, at any time before or after the award, shall be grounds for action by the State which 
may include, but is not limited to, the following: 
 
1. rejection of a bidder’s proposal; 
2. suspension of the bidder from further bidding with the State for the period of time 

relative to the seriousness of the violation, such period to be within the sole discretion 
of the State. 
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III. TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
By signing the “Request For Proposal For Contractual Services” form, the bidder guarantees 
compliance with the provisions stated in this Request for Proposal, agrees to the terms and conditions 
and certifies bidder maintains a drug free work place environment. 
 
Bidders are expected to closely read the Terms and Conditions and provide a binding signature of 
intent to comply with such terms and conditions.  Additionally, bidder must clearly identify by 
subsection number, and exceptions to the terms and conditions and include an explanation as to why 
the bidder cannot comply with the specific term and condition and a statement recommending terms 
and conditions the bidder would find acceptable.  Rejection of these terms and conditions may be 
cause for rejection of a bidder’s proposal. 
 
Bidders must affirmatively accept each and all of the terms and conditions of this RFP by affixing their 
initials on the space provided, which is indicated by the words “Accept & Initial.” 
 
A. GENERAL  

The contract resulting from this Request for Proposal shall incorporate the following 
documents: 
 
1. the signed Request for Proposal form;  
2. the original Request for Proposal document; 
3. any Request for Proposal addenda and/or amendments to include questions and 

answers;  
4. the contractor’s proposal;  
5. any contract amendments, in order of significance; and 
6. contract award. 
 
Unless otherwise specifically stated in a contract amendment, in case of any conflict between 
the incorporated documents, the documents shall govern in the following order of preference 
with number one (1) receiving preference over all other documents and with each lower 
numbered document having preference over any higher numbered document: 1) the contract 
award, 2) contract amendments with the latest dated amendment having the highest priority, 
3) Request for Proposal addenda and/or amendments with the latest dated amendment having 
the highest priority, 4) the original Request for Proposal, 5) the signed Request For Proposal 
form, 6) the contractor’s proposal. 
 
Any ambiguity in any provision of this contract which shall be discovered after its execution 
shall be resolved in accordance with the rules of contract interpretation as established in the 
State of Nebraska. 
 
Once proposals are opened they become the property of the State of Nebraska and will not be 
returned. 
 

B. AWARD 
All purchases, leases, or contracts which are based on competitive proposals will be awarded 
according to the provisions in the Request for Proposal.  The State reserves the right to reject 
any or all proposals, wholly or in part, or to award to multiple bidders in whole or in part, and at 
its discretion, may withdraw or amend the Request for Proposal at any time.  The State 
reserves the right to waive any deviations or errors that are not material, do not invalidate the 
legitimacy of the proposal, and do not improve the bidder’s competitive position.  All awards 
will be made in a manner deemed in the best interest of the State.  The Request for Proposal 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 
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does not commit the State to award a contract.  If, in the opinion of the State, revisions or 
amendments will require substantive changes in proposals, the due date may be extended. 
 
By submitting a proposal in response to this Request for Proposal, the bidder grants to the 
State the right to contact or arrange a visit in person with any or all of the bidder’s clients. 
 
Once an intent to award decision has been determined, it will be posted to the Internet at: 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm 
 
Grievance and protest procedure is available on the Internet at: 
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfpmanual/rfpmanual.htm 
 
Any protests must be filed by a vendor within ten (10) calendar days after the intent to award 
decision is posted to the Internet. 
 

C. COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT / 
NONDISCRIMINATION  
The contractor shall comply with all applicable local, State and Federal statutes and 
regulations regarding civil rights laws and equal opportunity employment. The Nebraska Fair 
Employment Practice Act prohibits contractors of the State of Nebraska, and their 
subcontractors, from discriminating against any employee or applicant for employment, with 
respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment because of race, color, 
religion, sex, disability, or national origin (Neb. Rev. Stat. §48-1101 to 48-1125).   The 
contractor guarantees compliance with the Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act, and 
breach of this provision shall be regarded as a material breach of contract.  The contractor 
shall insert a similar provision in all subcontracts for services to be covered by any contract 
resulting from this Request for Proposal. 
 

D. PERMITS, REGULATIONS, LAWS 
The contractor shall procure and pay for all permits, licenses and approvals necessary for the 
execution of the contract.  This requirement includes preparation and filing of all legal 
documents necessary to implement and maintain services, including policies, amendments, 
contracts, required state filings, and development of booklets/certificate formats.  The 
contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, ordinances, rules, 
orders and regulations.  
 

E. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION AND DATA  
The State of Nebraska shall have the unlimited right to publish, duplicate, use and disclose all 
information and data developed or derived by the contractor pursuant to this contract.  
Contractor may not utilize data developed under this Agreement to provide service to any 
entity other than the State of Nebraska without the written permission of the State. 
 
The contractor must guarantee that it has the full legal right to the materials, supplies, 
equipment, and other rights or titles (e.g. rights to licenses transfer or assign deliverables) 
necessary to execute this contract.  The contract price shall, without exception, include 
compensation for all royalties and costs arising from patents, trademarks and copyrights that 
are in any way involved in the contract.  It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to pay for 
all royalties and costs, and the State must be held harmless from any such claims.   
 

Accept  
& Initial 
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& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfp.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfpmanual/rfpmanual.htm
http://www.das.state.ne.us/materiel/purchasing/rfpmanual/rfpmanual.htm


Page 9  

 

F. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
Subject to waiver by the State, in whole or in part, of these requirements, the contractor shall 
not commence work under this contract until he or she has obtained all the insurance required 
hereunder and such insurance has been approved by the State.  The contractor shall not allow 
any subcontractor to commence work on his or her subcontract until all similar insurance 
required of the subcontractor has been obtained and approved by the State (or contractor).  
Approval of the insurance by the State shall not limit, relieve or decrease the liability of the 
contractor hereunder.  
  
If by the terms of any insurance a mandatory deductible is required, or if the contractor elects 
to increase the mandatory deductible amount, the contractor shall be responsible for payment 
of the amount of the deductible in the event of a paid claim. 
 
1. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE 

The contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract the statutory 
Workers’ Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the contactors’ 
employees to be engaged in work on the project under this contract and, in case any 
such work is sublet, the contractor shall require the subcontractor similarly to provide 
Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the 
subcontractor’s employees to be engaged in such work.  This policy shall be written to 
meet the statutory requirements for the state in which the work is to be performed, 
including Occupational Disease.  This policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in 
favor of the State.  The amounts of such insurance shall not be less than the limits 
stated hereinafter. 
 

2. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE AND COMMERCIAL 
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE 
The contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract such 
Commercial General Liability Insurance and Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance 
as shall protect contractor and any subcontractor performing work covered by this 
contract from claims for damages for bodily injury, including death, as well as from 
claims for property damage, which may arise from operations under this contract, 
whether such operation be by the contractor or by any subcontractor or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by either of them, and the amounts of such insurance 
shall not be less than limits stated hereinafter. 
 
The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, 
and provide Premises/Operations, Products/Completed Operations, Independent 
Contractors, Personal Injury and Contractual Liability coverage.  The policy shall 
include the State, and others as required by the Contract Documents, as an Additional 
Insured.  This policy shall be primary, and any insurance or self-insurance carried by 
the State shall be considered excess and non-contributory.  The Commercial 
Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written to cover all Owned, Non-owned and 
Hired vehicles. 
 

Accept  
& Initial 
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3. INSURANCE COVERAGE AMOUNTS REQUIRED 
 

a. WORKERS' COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER'S LIABILITY 
Coverage A     Statutory 
Coverage B 
Bodily Injury by Accident   $100,000 each accident 
Bodily Injury by Disease   $500,000 policy limit 
Bodily Injury by Disease   $100,000 each employee 
 

b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY  
General Aggregate    $2,000,000 
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000 
Personal/Advertising Injury   $1,000,000 any one person 
Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 per occurrence 
Fire Damage     $50,000 any one fire 
Medical Payments    $5,000 any one person 
 

c. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY  
Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 combined single limit 
 

d. UMBRELLA/EXCESS LIABILITY 
Over Primary Insurance   $1,000,000 per occurrence 
 

e. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY   $1,000,000 per occurrence 
 

4. EVIDENCE OF COVERAGE 
The contractor should furnish the State, with their proposal response, a certificate of 
insurance coverage complying with the above requirements, which State Purchasing 
will submit to Administrative Services, Risk Management Division, 521 S. 14th Street, 
Suite 104, Lincoln, NE 68508 (facsimile 402-471-2800).  These certificates or the cover 
sheet shall reference the RFP number, and the certificates shall include the name of 
the company, policy numbers, effective dates, dates of expiration and amounts and 
types of coverage afforded.  If the State is damaged by the failure of the contractor to 
maintain such insurance, then the contractor shall be responsible for all reasonable 
costs properly attributable thereto. 
 
Notice of cancellation of any required insurance policy must be submitted to 
Administrative Services Risk Management when issued and a new coverage binder 
shall be submitted immediately to ensure no break in coverage.   
  

G. COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS  
The State may already have in place or choose to award supplemental contracts for work 
related to this Request for Proposal, or any portion thereof.   
 
1. The State reserves the right to award the contract jointly between two or more potential 

contractors, if such an arrangement is in the best interest of the State.   
2. The contractor shall agree to cooperate with such other contractors, and shall not 

commit or permit any act which may interfere with the performance of work by any 
other contractor. 
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H. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR  
It is agreed that nothing contained herein is intended or should be construed in any manner as 
creating or establishing the relationship of partners between the parties hereto.  The contractor 
represents that it has, or will secure at its own expense, all personnel required to perform the 
services under the contract.  The contractor’s employees and other persons engaged in work 
or services required by the contractor under the contract shall have no contractual relationship 
with the State; they shall not be considered employees of the State. 
 
All claims on behalf of any person arising out of employment or alleged employment (including 
without limit claims of discrimination against the contractor, its officers or its agents) shall in no 
way be the responsibility of the State.  The contractor will hold the State harmless from any 
and all such claims.  Such personnel or other persons shall not require nor be entitled to any 
compensation, rights or benefits from the State including without limit, tenure rights, medical 
and hospital care, sick and vacation leave, severance pay or retirement benefits. 
 

I. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY  
The contractor is solely responsible for fulfilling the contract, with responsibility for all services 
offered and products to be delivered as stated in the Request for Proposal, the contractor’s 
proposal, and the resulting contract.  The contractor shall be the sole point of contact 
regarding all contractual matters. 
 
If the contractor intends to utilize any subcontractors' services, the subcontractors' level of 
effort, tasks and time allocation must be clearly defined in the contractor's proposal.  The 
contractor shall agree that it will not utilize any subcontractors not specifically included in its 
proposal, in the performance of the contract, without the prior written authorization of the 
State.  Following execution of the contract, the contractor shall proceed diligently with all 
services and shall perform such services with qualified personnel in accordance with the 
contract. 
 

J. CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL  
The contractor warrants that all persons assigned to the project shall be employees of the 
contractor or specified subcontractors, and shall be fully qualified to perform the work required 
herein.  Personnel employed by the contractor to fulfill the terms of the contract shall remain 
under the sole direction and control of the contractor.  The contractor shall include a similar 
provision in any contract with any subcontractor selected to perform work on the project. 
 
Personnel commitments made in the contractor's proposal shall not be changed without the 
prior written approval of the State.  Replacement of key personnel, if approved by the State, 
shall be with personnel of equal or greater ability and qualifications. 
 
The State reserves the right to require the contractor to reassign or remove from the project 
any contractor or subcontractor employee. 
 
In respect to its employees, the contractor agrees to be responsible for the following: 
 
1. any and all employment taxes and/or other payroll withholding; 
2. any and all vehicles used by the contractor’s employees, including all insurance 

required by state law; 
3. damages incurred by contractor’s employees within the scope of their duties under  the 

contract; 
4. maintaining workers’ compensation and health insurance and submitting any reports 

on such insurance to the extent required by governing State law; and  

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 



Page 12  

 

5. determining the hours to be worked and the duties to be performed by the contractor’s 
employees. 

 
Notice of cancellation of any required insurance policy must be submitted to the State when 
issued and a new coverage binder shall be submitted immediately to ensure no break in 
coverage.   
 

K. STATE OF NEBRASKA PERSONNEL RECRUITMENT PROHIBITION  
The contractor shall not, at any time, recruit or employ any State employee or agent who has 
worked on the Request for Proposal or project, or who had any influence on decisions 
affecting the Request for Proposal or project.  
 

L. CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
By submitting a proposal, bidder certifies that there does not now exist any relationship 
between the bidder and any person or entity which is or gives the appearance of a conflict of 
interest related to this Request for Proposal or project. 
 
The bidder certifies that it shall not take any action or acquire any interest, either directly or 
indirectly, which will conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of its services 
hereunder or which creates an actual or appearance of conflict of interest.  
 
The bidder certifies that it will not employ any individual known by bidder to have a conflict of 
interest. 
 

M. PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS  
The State shall not incur any liability for any costs incurred by bidders in replying to this 
Request for Proposal, in the demonstrations, or oral presentations, or in any other activity 
related to bidding on this Request for Proposal. 
 

N. ERRORS AND OMISSIONS  
The bidder shall not take advantage of any errors and/or omissions in this Request for 
Proposal or resulting contract.  The bidder must promptly notify the State of any errors and/or 
omissions that are discovered. 
 

O. BEGINNING OF WORK  
The bidder shall not commence any billable work until a valid contract has been fully executed 
by the State and the successful contractor.  The contractor will be notified in writing when work 
may begin. 
 

P. ASSIGNMENT BY THE STATE  
The State shall have the right to assign or transfer the contract or any of its interests herein to 
any agency, board, commission, or political subdivision of the State of Nebraska.  There shall 
be no charge to the State for any assignment hereunder.   
 

Q. ASSIGNMENT BY THE CONTRACTOR  
The contractor may not assign, voluntarily or involuntarily, the contract or any of its rights or 
obligations hereunder (including without limitation rights and duties of performance) to any 
third party, without the prior written consent of the State, which will not be unreasonably 
withheld. 
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R. DEVIATIONS FROM THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
The requirements contained in the Request for Proposal become a part of the terms and 
conditions of the contract resulting from this Request for Proposal.  Any deviations from the 
Request for Proposal must be clearly defined by the bidder in its proposal and, if accepted by 
the State, will become part of the contract.  Any specifically defined deviations must not be in 
conflict with the basic nature of the Request for Proposal or mandatory requirements.  
“Deviation”, for the purposes of this RFP, means any proposed changes or alterations to either 
the contractual language or deliverables within the scope of this RFP.  The State discourages 
deviations and reserves the right to reject proposed deviations. 
 

S. GOVERNING LAW  
The contract shall be governed in all respects by the laws and statutes of the State of 
Nebraska.  Any legal proceedings against the State of Nebraska regarding this Request for 
Proposal or any resultant contract shall be brought in the State of Nebraska administrative or 
judicial forums as defined by State law.  The contractor must be in compliance with all 
Nebraska statutory and regulatory law.  
 

T. ATTORNEY'S FEES  
In the event of any litigation, appeal or other legal action to enforce any provision of the 
contract, the contractor agrees to pay all expenses of such action, as permitted by law, 
including attorney's fees and costs, if the State is the prevailing party. 
 

U. ADVERTISING  
The contractor agrees not to refer to the contract award in advertising in such a manner as to 
state or imply that the company or its services are endorsed or preferred by the State.  News 
releases pertaining to the project shall not be issued without prior written approval from the 
State. 
 

V. STATE PROPERTY  
The contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and custody of any State-owned 
property which is furnished for the contractor's use during the performance of the contract.  
The contractor shall reimburse the State for any loss or damage of such property, normal wear 
and tear is expected. 
 

W. SITE RULES AND REGULATIONS  
The contractor shall use its best efforts to ensure that its employees, agents and 
subcontractors comply with site rules and regulations while on State premises. If the contractor 
must perform on-site work outside of the daily operational hours set forth by the State, it must 
make arrangements with the State to ensure access to the facility and the equipment has been 
arranged.  No additional payment will be made by the State on the basis of lack of access, 
unless the State fails to provide access as agreed to between the State and the contractor. 
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X. NOTIFICATION  
During the bid process, all communication between the State and a bidder shall be between 
the bidder’s representative clearly noted in its proposal and the buyer noted in Section II, A. 
Procuring Office and Contact Person of this RFP. After the award of the contract, all notices 
under the contract shall be deemed duly given upon delivery to the staff designated as the 
point of contact for this Request for Proposal, in person, or upon delivery by U.S. Mail, 
facsimile, or e-mail.  Each bidder should provide in its proposal the name, title and complete 
address of its designee to receive notices. 
 
1. Except as otherwise expressly specified herein, all notices, requests or other 

communications shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if delivered 
personally or mailed, by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the 
parties at their respective addresses set forth above, or at such other addresses as 
may be specified in writing by either of the parties.  All notices, requests, or 
communications shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery or three (3) days 
following deposit in the mail. 

 
2. Whenever the contractor encounters any difficulty which is delaying or threatens to 

delay its timely performance under the contract, the contractor shall immediately give 
notice thereof in writing to the State reciting all relevant information with respect 
thereto.  Such notice shall not in any way constitute a basis for an extension of the 
delivery schedule or be construed as a waiver by the State of any of its rights or 
remedies to which it is entitled by law or equity or pursuant to the provisions of the 
contract.  Failure to give such notice, however, may be grounds for denial of any 
request for an extension of the delivery schedule because of such delay. 

 
Either party may change its address for notification purposes by giving notice of the change, 
and setting forth the new address and an effective date. 
 
For the duration of the contract, all communication between contractor and the State regarding 
the contract shall take place between the contractor and individuals specified by the State in 
writing.  Communication about the contract between contractor and individuals not designated 
as points of contact by the State is strictly forbidden. 
 

Y. EARLY TERMINATION  
The contract may be terminated as follows: 
1. The State and the contractor, by mutual written agreement, may terminate the contract 

at any time. 
 

2. The State, in its sole discretion, may terminate the contract for any reason upon 30 
days written notice to the contractor.   Such termination shall not relieve the contractor 
of warranty or other service obligations incurred under the terms of the contract.  In the 
event of cancellation the contractor shall be entitled to payment, determined on a pro 
rata basis, for products or services satisfactorily performed or provided. 
 

3. The State may terminate the contract immediately for the following reasons: 
 
a. if directed to do so by statute; 
b. contractor has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, has admitted in 

writing its inability to pay debts as they mature, or has ceased operating in the 
normal course of business; 

c. a trustee or receiver of the contractor or of any substantial part of the 
contractor’s assets has been appointed by a court; 
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d. fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement, malfeasance, misfeasance, or illegal 
conduct pertaining to performance under the contract by its contractor, its 
employees, officers, directors or shareholders; 

e. an involuntary proceeding has been commenced by any party against the 
contractor under any one of the chapters of Title 11 of the United States Code 
and (i) the proceeding has been pending for at least sixty (60) days; or (ii) the 
contractor has consented, either expressly or by operation of law, to the entry of 
an order for relief; or (iii) the contractor has been decreed or adjudged a debtor; 

f. a voluntary petition has been filed by the contractor under any of the chapters 
of Title 11 of the United States Code; 

g. contractor intentionally discloses confidential information; 
h. contractor has or announces it will discontinue support of the deliverable; 
i. second or subsequent documented “vendor performance report” form deemed 

acceptable by the State Purchasing Bureau. 
 

Z. FUNDING OUT CLAUSE OR LOSS OF APPROPRIATIONS  
The State may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, in the event funding is no longer 
available.  The State’s obligation to pay amounts due for fiscal years following the current 
fiscal year is contingent upon legislative appropriation of funds for the contract.  Should said 
funds not be appropriated, the State may terminate the contract with respect to those 
payments for the fiscal years for which such funds are not appropriated.  The State will give 
the contractor written notice thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of any termination, and 
advise the contractor of the location (address and room number) of any related equipment.  All 
obligations of the State to make payments after the termination date will cease and all interest 
of the State in any related equipment will terminate.  The contractor shall be entitled to receive 
just and equitable compensation for any authorized work which has been satisfactorily 
completed as of the termination date.  In no event shall the contractor be paid for a loss of 
anticipated profit. 
 

AA. BREACH BY CONTRACTOR  
The State may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if the contractor fails to perform its 
obligations under the contract in a timely and proper manner.  The State may, by providing a 
written notice of default to the contractor, allow the contractor to cure a failure or breach of 
contract within a period of thirty (30) days (or longer at State’s discretion considering the 
gravity and nature of the default).  Said notice shall be delivered by Certified Mail, Return 
Receipt Requested or in person with proof of delivery.  Allowing the contractor time to cure a 
failure or breach of contract does not waive the State’s right to immediately terminate the 
contract for the same or different contract breach which may occur at a different time.  In case 
of default of the contractor, the State may contract the service from other sources and hold the 
contractor responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby. 
 

BB. ASSURANCES BEFORE BREACH  
If any document or deliverable required pursuant to the contract does not fulfill the 
requirements of the Request for Proposal/resulting contract, upon written notice from the 
State, the contractor shall deliver assurances in the form of additional contractor resources at 
no additional cost to the project in order to complete the deliverable, and to ensure that other 
project schedules will not be adversely affected. 
 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 



Page 16  

 

CC. PENALTY  
In the event that the contractor fails to perform any substantial obligation under the contract, 
the State may withhold all monies due and payable to the contractor, without penalty, until 
such failure is cured or otherwise adjudicated.  Failure to meet the dates stipulated in the 
contract for the deliverables may result in an assessment of penalty due the State of $100.00 
dollars per day, until the deliverables are approved.  Contractor will be notified in writing when 
penalty will commence. 
 

DD. PERFORMANCE BOND  
The selected contractor shall be required to supply a certified check or a bond executed by a 
corporation authorized to contract surety in the State of Nebraska, payable to the State of 
Nebraska, which shall be valid for the life of the contract to include any renewal and/or 
extension periods.  The amount of the certified check or bond must be an established dollar 
amount of $200,000.00. The check or bond will guarantee that the selected contractor will 
faithfully perform all requirements, terms and conditions of the contract.  Failure to comply 
shall be grounds for forfeiture of the check or bond as liquidated damages.  Amount of 
forfeiture will be determined by the agency based on loss to the State.  The bond or certified 
check will be returned when the service has been satisfactorily completed as solely 
determined by the State, after termination or expiration of the contract.   
  

EE. FORCE MAJEURE  
Neither party shall be liable for any costs or damages resulting from its inability to perform any 
of its obligations under the contract due to a natural disaster, or other similar event outside the 
control and not the fault of the affected party (“Force Majeure Event”). A Force Majeure Event 
shall not constitute a breach of the contract.  The party so affected shall immediately give 
notice to the other party of the Force Majeure Event. The State may grant relief from 
performance of the contract if the contractor is prevented from performance by a Force 
Majeure Event.  The burden of proof for the need for such relief shall rest upon the contractor.  
To obtain release based on a Force Majeure Event, the contractor shall file a written request 
for such relief with the State Purchasing Bureau.  Labor disputes with the impacted party’s 
own employees will not be considered a Force Majeure Event and will not suspend 
performance requirements under the contract. 
 

FF. PROHIBITION AGAINST ADVANCE PAYMENT 
Payments shall not be made until contractual deliverable(s) are received and accepted by the 
State. 
 

GG. PAYMENT  
State will render payment to contractor when the terms and conditions of the contract and 
specifications have been satisfactorily completed on the part of the contractor as solely 
determined by the State.  Payment will be made by the responsible agency in compliance with 
the State of Nebraska Prompt Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-2401 through 81-2408).  
The State may require the contractor to accept payment by electronic means such as ACH 
deposit. In no event shall the State be responsible or liable to pay for any services provided by 
the contractor prior to the Effective Date, and the contractor hereby waives any claim or cause 
of action for any such services. 
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HH. INVOICES  
Invoices for payments must be submitted by the contractor to the agency requesting the 
services with sufficient detail to support payment. The terms and conditions included in the 
contractor’s invoice shall be deemed to be solely for the convenience of the parties.  No terms 
or conditions of any such invoice shall be binding upon the State, and no action by the State, 
including without limitation the payment of any such invoice in whole or in part, shall be 
construed as binding or estopping the State with respect to any such term or condition, unless 
the invoice term or condition has been previously agreed to by the State as an amendment to 
the contract.   
 

II. AUDIT REQUIREMENTS  
All contractor books, records and documents relating to work performed or monies received 
under the contract shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time upon the provision of 
reasonable notice by the State.  These records shall be maintained for a period of five (5) full 
years from the date of final payment, or until all issues related to an audit, litigation or other 
action are resolved, whichever is longer.  All records shall be maintained in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
In addition to, and in no way in limitation of any obligation in the contract, the contractor shall 
agree that it will be held liable for any State audit exceptions, and shall return to the State all 
payments made under the contract for which an exception has been taken or which has been 
disallowed because of such an exception. The contractor agrees to correct immediately any 
material weakness or condition reported to the State in the course of an audit. 
 

JJ. TAXES  
The State is not required to pay taxes of any kind and assumes no such liability as a result of 
this solicitation.  Any property tax payable on the contractor's equipment which may be 
installed in a state-owned facility is the responsibility of the contractor. 
 

KK. INSPECTION AND APPROVAL  
Final inspection and approval of all work required under the contract shall be performed by the 
designated State officials.  The State and/or its authorized representatives shall have the right 
to enter any premises where the contractor or subcontractor duties under the contract are 
being performed, and to inspect, monitor or otherwise evaluate the work being performed.  All 
inspections and evaluations shall be at reasonable times and in a manner that will not 
unreasonably delay work. 
 

LL. CHANGES IN SCOPE/CHANGE ORDERS  
The State may, at any time with written notice to the contractor, make changes within the 
general scope of the contract.  Changes in scope shall only be conducted with the written 
approval of the State’s designee as so defined by the State from time to time.  (The State 
retains the right to employ the services of a third party to perform any change order(s)). 
 
The State may, at any time work is in progress, by written order, make alterations in the terms 
of work as shown in the specifications, require the performance of extra work, decrease the 
quantity of work, or make such other changes as the State may find necessary or desirable.  
The contractor shall not claim forfeiture of contract by reasons of such changes by the State.  
Changes in work and the amount of compensation to be paid to the contractor for any extra 
work so ordered shall be determined in accordance with the applicable unit prices of the 
contractor’s proposal. 
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Corrections of any deliverable services or performance of work required pursuant to the 
contract shall not be deemed a modification requiring a change order. 
 

MM. SEVERABILITY  
If any term or condition of the contract is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and conditions shall not be 
affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the 
contract did not contain the particular provision held to be invalid. 
 

NN. CONFIDENTIALITY  
All materials and information provided by the State or acquired by the contractor on behalf of 
the State shall be regarded as confidential information.  All materials and information provided 
by the State or acquired by the contractor on behalf of the State shall be handled in 
accordance with Federal and State Law, and ethical standards.  The contractor must ensure 
the confidentiality of such materials or information.  Should said confidentiality be breached by 
a contractor; contractor shall notify the State immediately of said breach and take immediate 
corrective action. 
 
It is incumbent upon the contractor to inform its officers and employees of the penalties for 
improper disclosure imposed by the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a.  Specifically, 5 U.S.C. 
552a (i)(1), which is made applicable to contractors by 5 U.S.C. 552a (m)(1), provides that any 
officer or employee of a contractor, who by virtue of his/her employment or official position has 
possession of or access to agency records which contain individually identifiable information, 
the disclosure of which is prohibited by the Privacy Act or regulations established thereunder, 
and who knowing that disclosure of the specific material is prohibited, willfully discloses the 
material in any manner to any person or agency not entitled to receive it, shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and fined not more than $5,000. 
 

OO. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION  
Data contained in the proposal and all documentation provided therein, become the property 
of the State of Nebraska and the data becomes public information upon opening the proposal. 
If the bidder wishes to have any information withheld from the public, such information must 
fall within the definition of proprietary information contained within Nebraska’s public record 
statutes.  All proprietary information the bidder wishes the State to withhold must be submitted 
in a sealed package, which is separate from the remainder of the proposal.  The separate 
package must be clearly marked PROPRIETARY on the outside of the package.  Bidders may 
not mark their entire Request for Proposal as proprietary.  Bidder’s cost proposals may not be 
marked as proprietary information.  Failure of the bidder to follow the instructions for 
submitting proprietary and copyrighted information may result in the information being viewed 
by other bidders and the public.  Proprietary information is defined as trade secrets, academic 
and scientific research work which is in progress and unpublished, and other information which 
if released would give advantage to business competitors and serve no public purpose (see 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §84-712.05(3)).  In accordance with Attorney General Opinions 92068 and 
97033, bidders submitting information as proprietary may be required to prove specific, named 
competitor(s) who would be advantaged by release of the information and the specific 
advantage the competitor(s) would receive.  Although every effort will be made to withhold 
information that is properly submitted as proprietary and meets the State’s definition of 
proprietary information, the State is under no obligation to maintain the confidentiality of 
proprietary information and accepts no liability for the release of such information. 
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PP. CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION/COLLUSIVE BIDDING 
By submission of this proposal, the bidder certifies, that he or she is the party making the 
foregoing proposal that the proposal is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any 
undisclosed person, partnership, company, association, organization, or corporation; that the 
proposal is genuine and not collusive or sham; that the bidder has not directly or indirectly 
induced or solicited any other bidder to put in a false or sham proposal, and has not directly or 
indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with any bidder or anyone else to put in a 
sham proposal, or that anyone shall refrain from bidding; that the bidder has not in any 
manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or conference with 
anyone to fix the proposal price of the bidder or any other bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, 
or cost element of the proposal price, or of that of any other bidder, or to secure any 
advantage against the public body awarding the contract of anyone interested in the proposed 
contract; that all statements contained in the proposal are true; and further that the bidder has 
not, directly or indirectly, submitted his or her proposal price or any breakdown thereof, or the 
contents thereof, or divulged information or data relative thereto, or paid, and will not pay, any 
fee to any corporation, partnership, company association, organization, proposal depository, or 
to any member or agent thereof to effectuate a collusive or sham proposal.  
 

QQ. PRICES  
All prices, costs, terms and conditions outlined in the proposal shall remain fixed and valid 
commencing on the opening date of the proposal until an award is made (and for bidder 
receiving award prices shall remain as bid for the duration of the contract unless otherwise so 
stated in the contract) or the Request for Proposal is cancelled. 
 
Contractor represents and warrants that all prices for services, now or subsequently specified 
are as low as and no higher than prices which the contractor has charged or intends to charge 
customers other than the State for the same or similar products and services of the same or 
equivalent quantity and quality for delivery or performance during the same periods of time.  If, 
during the term of the contract, the contractor shall reduce any and/or all prices charged to any 
customers other than the State for the same or similar products or services specified herein, 
the contractor shall make an equal or equivalent reduction in corresponding prices for said 
specified products or services.   
 
Contractor also represents and warrants that all prices set forth in the contract and all prices in 
addition, which the contractor may charge under the terms of the contract, do not and will not 
violate any existing federal, state or municipal law or regulations concerning price 
discrimination and/or price fixing.  Contractor agrees to hold the State harmless from any such 
violation.  Prices quoted shall not be subject to increase throughout the contract period unless 
specifically allowed by these specifications. 
 

RR. BEST AND FINAL OFFER 
The State will compile the final scores for all parts of each proposal.  The award may be 
granted to the highest scoring responsive and responsible bidder.  Alternatively, the highest 
scoring bidder or bidders may be requested to submit best and final offers.  If best and final 
offers are requested by the State and submitted by the bidder, they will be evaluated (using 
the stated criteria), scored and ranked by the Evaluation Committee.  The award will then be 
granted to the highest scoring bidder.  However, a bidder should provide its best offer in its 
original proposal.  Bidders should not expect that the State will request a best and final offer. 
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SS. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING  
No bidder shall pay or offer to pay, either directly or indirectly, any fee, commission 
compensation, gift, gratuity, or anything of value to any State officer, legislator or employee 
based on the understanding that the receiving person’s vote, actions or judgment will be 
influenced thereby.  No bidder shall give any item of value to any employee of the State 
Purchasing Bureau.   
 
Bidders shall be prohibited from utilizing the services of lobbyists, attorneys, political activists, 
or consultants to secure the contract.  It is the intent of this provision to assure that the 
prohibition of state contact during the procurement process is not subverted through the use of 
lobbyists, attorneys, political activists, or consultants. It is the intent of the State that the 
process of evaluation of proposals and award of the contract be completed without external 
influence.  It is not the intent of this section to prohibit bidders from seeking professional 
advice, for example consulting legal counsel, regarding terms and conditions of this Request 
for Proposal or the format or content of their proposal. 
 
If the bidder is found to be in non-compliance with this section of the Request for Proposal, 
they may forfeit the contract if awarded to them or be disqualified from the selection process. 
 

TT. INDEMNIFICATION  
 
1. GENERAL 

The contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, hold, and save harmless the State and its 
employees, volunteers, agents, and its elected and appointed officials (“the indemnified 
parties”) from and against any and all claims, liens, demands, damages, liability, 
actions, causes of action, losses, judgments, costs, and expenses of every nature, 
including investigation costs and expenses, settlement costs, and attorney fees and 
expenses (“the claims”), sustained or asserted against the State, arising out of, 
resulting from, or attributable to the willful misconduct, negligence, error, or omission of 
the contractor, its employees, subcontractors, consultants, representatives, and 
agents, except to the extent such contractor liability is attenuated by any action of the 
State which directly and proximately contributed to the claims. 
 

2. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
The contractor agrees it will at its sole cost and expense, defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the indemnified parties from and against any and all claims, to the extent 
such claims arise out of, result from, or are attributable to the actual or alleged 
infringement or misappropriation of any patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark, or 
confidential information of any third party by the contractor or its employees, 
subcontractors, consultants, representatives, and agents; provided, however, the State 
gives the contractor prompt notice in writing of the claim.  The contractor may not settle 
any infringement claim that will affect the State’s use of the Licensed Software without 
the State’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld for any reason. 
 
If a judgment or settlement is obtained or reasonably anticipated against the State’s 
use of any intellectual property for which the contractor has indemnified the State, the 
contractor shall at the contractor’s sole cost and expense promptly modify the item or 
items which were determined to be infringing, acquire a license or licenses on the 
State’s behalf to provide the necessary rights to the State to eliminate the infringement, 
or provide the State with a non-infringing substitute that provides the State the same 
functionality.  At the State’s election, the actual or anticipated judgment may be treated 
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as a breach of warranty by the contractor, and the State may receive the remedies 
provided under this RFP. 
 

3. PERSONNEL 
The contractor shall, at its expense, indemnify and hold harmless the indemnified 
parties from and against any claim with respect to withholding taxes, worker’s 
compensation, employee benefits, or any other claim, demand, liability, damage, or 
loss of any nature relating to any of the personnel provided by the contractor. 
 

UU. NEBRASKA TECHNOLOGY ACCESS STANDARDS  
Contractor shall review the Nebraska Technology Access Standards, found at 
http://www.nitc.state.ne.us/standards/accessibility and ensure that products and/or services 
provided under the contract comply with the applicable standards.  In the event such 
standards change during the contractor’s performance, the State may create an amendment to 
the contract to request that contract comply with the changed standard at a cost mutually 
acceptable to the parties. 
 

VV. ANTITRUST 
The contractor hereby assigns to the State any and all claims for overcharges as to goods 
and/or services provided in connection with this contract resulting from antitrust violations 
which arise under antitrust laws of the United States and the antitrust laws of the State. 
 

WW. DISASTER RECOVERY/BACK UP PLAN 
The contractor shall have a disaster recovery and back-up plan, of which a copy should be 
provided to the State, which includes, but is not limited to equipment, personnel, facilities, and 
transportation, in order to continue services as specified under these specifications in the 
event of a disaster.   
 

XX. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 
Time is of the essence in this contract.  The acceptance of late performance with or without 
objection or reservation by the State shall not waive any rights of the State nor constitute a 
waiver of the requirement of timely performance of any obligations on the part of the contractor 
remaining to be performed. 
 

YY. RECYCLING 
Preference will be given to items which are manufactured or produced from recycled material 
or which can be readily reused or recycled after their normal use as per state statute (Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §81-15, 159). 
 

ZZ. DRUG POLICY 
Contractor certifies it maintains a drug free work place environment to ensure worker safety 
and workplace integrity.  Contractor agrees to provide a copy of its drug free workplace policy 
at any time upon request by the State. 
 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

Accept  
& Initial 

http://www.nitc.state.ne.us/standards/accessibility
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IV. PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The bidder must provide the following information in response to this Request for Proposal. 
 
A. PROJECT OVERVIEW 

The State of Nebraska (“State”) is the governing body for Nebraska. The State employs 
approximately 17,000 individuals.  In an effort to control costs, the State is requesting 
proposals for a Wellness Program to be launched with Open Enrollment on April 13, 2009 
which would include Health Assessment Tools and communication pieces for State 
employees.  All the State employee benefit plans begin July 1 and run through June 30 of 
each year.  The Program is designed to be a comprehensive approach to wellness available to 
all employees participating in the State’s health insurance plan.  There are approximately 
14,000 employees participating in the health insurance plan. 
 

B. PROJECT ENVIRONMENT 
The State of Nebraska currently does not have a comprehensive Wellness Program.  A    
number of agencies have worksite wellness activities or programs in place for employees.  
The State is developing a comprehensive long-term wellness strategy that will enhance or 
replace the worksite plans currently in place.  The Wellness Program is expected to evolve 
over the first three years of the program. 
 
The State is unable to provide monetary incentives for participation in the Wellness Program.  
However, the State is considering alternative participation strategies to ensure a high level of 
engagement.  
 
For the Purpose of this RFP, Wellness Program(s) is assumed to include Disease 
Management Programs as required for various Chronic Conditions for those enrolled. 
 

C. PROJECT REQUIREMENTS 
The State’s long-term strategy is to develop and implement plans and programs that: 
1. Are based on current and future cost drivers, using State-specific data (where 

available) to support initiatives and measure program effectiveness 
2. Have a total population focus  
3. Lead to long-term, sustainable behavior change 
4. Address a broad view of health and well-being issues   
5. Are flexible, repeatable and scalable  
6. Are all inclusive 
 
The State of Nebraska is implementing a new PPO health plan for the purpose of integrating 
PPO plan features and preventative benefits with the Wellness Program proposed herein.  
Those employees enrolled in this new PPO Health Plan will be enrolled in and participate in 
the successful bidders Wellness Program.  Employees enrolled in other health plans offered 
by the State will not have the ability to enroll in the Wellness Program.  The employee must 
actively participate in the Wellness Programs to continue to have access to this PPO Health 
Plan.  The successful bidders must actively work with the State’s Health Care Third Party 
Administrator in the sharing of required information and programs of each employee enrolled. 
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Bidders shall indicate compliance with the following: 
1. Contractor certifies that it is in full compliance with HIPAA's administrative simplification 

standards relating to electronic data interchange (EDI). 
 

2. Contractor certifies that it is in full compliance with HIPAA's regulations protecting the 
privacy of individually identifiable health information. 

 
D. BUSINESS REQUIREMENTS 

1. What is your primary business focus? 
2. How long have you been providing these types of services? 
3. How many direct to employer clients do you currently have (do not include programs 

sold through Health Plans or other intermediary sources)?  Designate by size: 
<5000 
5001 – 10,000  
>10,001 

4. How many government entities (federal, state, local, not-for-profit) have you worked 
with? 

5. Please provide three public entity references. 
 

E. SCOPE OF WORK 
The State of Nebraska is requesting proposals for an integrated Wellness Program that 
includes health risk assessment tools, educational content, health tools and resources, on-line 
and on-site educational programs, on-line activity tracking, telephonic health coaching, 
comprehensive reporting, and day-to-day on-site management.  The State is interested in 
programs with sustainable engagement and proven outcomes.  
 
 The State is evaluating which risk assessment approach is desired for each employee 
enrolled in the Wellness Program, a self-reporting Health Assessment (HA) survey or a 
Biometric Screening.  Describe your approach and pricing for each type in conducting the HA 
only, the Biometric Screening only, or both in determining the risk assessment for each 
employee enrolled in the Wellness Program.  The State retains the right to select which risk 
assessment(s) approach will be implemented.  The successful contractor must allow the State 
the option to provide either or both at a minimum and as deemed necessary.  
 

F. TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. Program Components 
Bidders should describe their program components and capabilities and their 
differentiating features. 

 
Describe each of the following components you provide as part of your suite of 
services. 
 
Describe the differences in your approach and processes you deliver to an employee 
between Wellness Programs / Disease Prevention versus your Disease / Chronic 
Condition Program Management. 
 
Check how the employee receives program assistance and whether they are 
proprietary or outsourced. 
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Program Description Online Telephonic 
Face to 

Face 

Mail 
Based 

Proprietary Outsourced 

Health Education/Content/Tools       

Health Assessment       

Population Based Health Challenges       

Seminars/Webinars       

Personal Health Record       

Custom Newsletter       

Program/Activity Tracking       

Secure Messaging/Chat       

Inbound Participant Technical and 
Program Assistance 

   
 

  

Age/Gender Specific Self Care 
Reminders  

   
 

  

Behavior Based Interventions       

Physical Activity       

Healthy Eating       

Tobacco Cessation       

Stress Management       

Weight Management       

Biometric Improvement       

Chronic Condition Prevention       

Other, please list       

Chronic Condition (DM)       

Asthma       

COPD       

Diabetes       

CHF       

CAD       

Musculoskeletal       

Depression       

Back Pain       

Cancer       

Pregnancy       

Care Gaps       

Other, please list       
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2. Health Assessment (HA) 
Provide a copy of the HA you plan to utilize for the State of Nebraska employees. 
 
The State of Nebraska may wish to modify the HA with specific questions for State 
employees as needed.  What is your process to allow the HA to be modified? 
 
Provide the following information regarding your HA: 
 

 Question Yes No 

 
1.  

Is your HA a proprietary tool? 
 

  

If no, is it proprietary to another entity?   Whom? 
 

If no, is it a free, non-proprietary tool?    Whom? 
 

2.  On average, how many questions is your HA?   

3.  Is the assessment static or dynamic (does it use algorithms to produce next 
questions based on last response)?  

Static Dynamic 

Explain: 

4.  Can an individual change their HA once it has been submitted?   

Explain: 

5.  How often can an individual complete an HA?   

1 time per year   

> 1 time per year   

Other, please describe: 
 

6.  Are “readiness to change” questions included in your HA?   

Explain: 

7.  Are “quality of life” questions included in your HA?   

Explain: 

8.  Are “productivity” questions included in your HA?   

Explain: 

9.  Do you provide an overall risk score to individuals who complete the HA?   

If yes, explain how the risk score is used for the individual, targeted outreach, aggregate 
reporting, and evaluation/measurement. 

Explain: 

10.  Does your HA provide individual time-over-time comparisons?   

Explain: 

11.  How many HA’s did you process in 2008?     

12.  
 

Can custom questions be added to your HA?     

If yes, what are the limitations? 

Explain: 

13.  Are waist measurements included as part of the HA?   

14.  Are hip measurements included as part of the HA?   
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3. Biometric Screenings 
Provide the following information regarding your biometric screening. 
 

1.  Indicate all ways you will provide biometric screenings: 
Check all that apply. 

 Onsite  

 Home kit  

 Lab relationship/vouchers  

 Other, please explain  

Explain: 

2.  Indicate which components are included in your standard screening.   
Check all that apply: 

 Total Cholesterol  

 HDL  

 LDL  

 Triglycerides  

 TL/HDL Ratio  

 Glucose  

 Blood Pressure  

 BMI  

 Waist Measurement  

 Hip Measurement  

 Participant Coaching/Results Review  

 Other, please list/describe  

Explain: 

3.  Are biometric values automatically uploaded into participants HA? 

Explain: 

4.  Who provides your screening?  Check all that apply: 

 Internal staff  

 Contracted staff  

 Sub-contractor/fully outsourced  

 Other, please explain  

Explain: 

5.  Describe your screening management process. 

Explain: 
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4. Lifestyle Programs/Coaching 
 

1.  Indicate which of the following are used for individual follow-up or targeted 
outreach:  Check all that apply: 

Health Assessment  

Medical Claims  

RX Claims  

Personal Health Record  

Self-Referral  

Non-Occupational Claims: STD/LTD  

Occupational Claims: Workers Compensation  

Other, please explain  

Explain: 

2.  Are your online behavior based programs proprietary? 

Yes  

No:  If no, are they proprietary to another entity? 
Whom? 

No:  If no, are they free, non-proprietary programs? 
Whom? 

3. 3 Please describe your online behavior based programs.  Be sure to include: 
eligibility or stratification processes, total program length (weeks to 
complete), tools & trackers involved, goal tracking, outcome measurements, 
etc. 

Explain: 

4. 4 Is your telephonic coaching provided internally? 

Yes  

No: If no, who is your outsourcing partner? 
 

5.  Please describe your telephonic based programs?  Be sure to include: 
eligibility or stratification processes, total program length (weeks to 
complete), tools & trackers involved, goal tracking, outcome measurements, 
etc. 

Explain: 

 
5. Communications 

Provide a description of the standard approach for communicating with the key 
stakeholders (e.g., Participants, Physicians, Health Professionals, Health Plan 
Administrator, Other Third Party Vendors, Primary Client (Employer) Contact, etc.) 
during the delivery of the health promotion/disease prevention and disease 
management program(s).  Please describe your approach to the following:  
a. Target Audience 

Response: 
b. Type of Communication 

Response: 
c. Frequency 

Response: 
d. Process for Monitoring Communication Effectiveness 

Response: 
 
As an attachment, provide samples of the standard communication and health 
education materials for each of the referenced target audiences above.   
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6. Wellness Coordinator 

Vendor is required to provide a dedicated person (Wellness Coordinator) to the State 
of Nebraska for managing all wellness activities provided by your company and in 
addition any other wellness activities as deemed necessary by the State.  This 
individual must: 
a. Have 5+years experience managing wellness programs with organizations of 

equal size.  The State of Nebraska retains the right to approve the individual to 
be assigned to this project and can require the removal of a person at the 
State’s sole discretion. 

b. Work under the direction of the State Employee Benefits Administrator to 
implement and provide continual support of the State’s Wellness Program.  
State may from time to time want to develop additional wellness events.  This 
individual will assist the State Employee Benefits Administrator with the 
development and implementation of these additional events as deemed 
necessary. 

c. Be present for all Open Enrollment planning and enrollment periods/meetings 
throughout the State of Nebraska. (Beginning April 2009) 

d. Travel at times to perform wellness activities at sites throughout the State of 
Nebraska.   
 

Duties of the Wellness Coordinator will include, but are not limited to: 
a. Developing materials and using them to communicate the details of the 

Wellness Program activities to a variety of audiences using a variety of media, 
including but not limited to presentations, flyers, Web site, newsletter articles, e-
mail notices, etc. 

b. Scheduling, coordinating, and supervising employee committee meetings at all 
locations for the State. 

c. Collecting data that is used to track State employee eligibility for the Wellness 
Program, including but not limited to participation in challenges, seminars, 
workshops, and behavior change activities. 

d. Directing the day-to-day operation of the Wellness Program, including but not 
limited to participating in all appropriate planning activities and providing 
recommendations for program design.   

e. Responding to employee questions regarding the Wellness Program. 
f. Generating reports related to Wellness Program participation, Wellness 

Assessments, Web site traffic, etc. 
g. Working closely with the State of Nebraska through the Employee Benefits 

Office to promote wellness for all State employees. 
h. Managing the administrative functions of a Web system, including posting, 

editing, distributing, and removing all client-specific content. 
i. Coordinating and assisting in the promotion and conducting of biometric 

measurements, including blood pressure, cholesterol, and glucose evaluations. 
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G. PROJECT PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT   
1. Reporting 

Describe the reporting capabilities and package you provide, indicate the name of the 
report, and describe the information reported and the frequency of the issuance of the 
report.  Please provide examples. 
a. Standard Report:  Report Name 
b. Standard Report:  Description 
c. Standard Report:  Frequency 
d. Standard Report:  Format/File Type 
 
Are the reports available in real-time and on-line via the Internet?  
 
Can these reports be customized to further meet the client’s needs?  If so, is there an 
additional charge for customized reports? 
 
Do your reporting capabilities allow the State to perform its own ad hoc inquiries / 
analysis on the State’s Data as deemed necessary?  If yes, please explain in detail the 
capabilities and analysis options and state any software, hardware or other 
requirements necessary for the State to access or utilize this capability.  If no, does the 
State have the option to download data to perform our own analysis as needed? 
 

2. Technology 
Identify each data source you minimally require for administration of each individuals 
risk profile or Wellness Program they might participate in, include the frequency and 
preferred method for obtaining updates for each data source.  Please be sure to cover 
the following for each data source: 
a. Frequency 
b. Preferred Method of Data Receipt 
c. Other comments about data transmission 
 
What is the current system platform(s) used to support the delivery of your Wellness 
Program?  
 
How do you secure and ensure the privacy of the protected health information that you 
collect?   
 
Vendor certifies that it (as well as any subcontractors that it utilizes) is in full 
compliance with HIPAA's regulations protecting the privacy of individually identifiable 
health information. 

  Yes 
  No 

 
H. PERFORM IMPLEMENTATION 

Are you able to provide a Health Assessment and communication pieces for State employees 
with the time constraints listed?  Please include any issues you may have with implementing 
these components of the Wellness Program by the launch date. 
 
Please provide a Proposed Implementation Plan with details regarding critical tasks, 
timeframes and resources needed. 
 
Include in the plan any potential interface points with other third party vendors. 
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What do you require of the State to successfully implement the HA and Wellness Program?  
 
Provide a detailed description of the process you will use to monitor and audit implementation 
of the program. 
 

I. PROVIDE POST IMPLEMENTATION SUPPORT 
Provide the staffing structure for the health promotion disease prevention programs(s), 
including number of employees, experience, role they have and ratio of staff to participants. 
 
Describe how you provide ongoing management of program accounts to ensure excellent 
customer service. 
 
What is your issue resolution and escalation process? 
 

J. DELIVERABLES 
The State will determine which services will be included in the Wellness Program and the 
schedule of implementation for each service.   
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V. PROPOSAL INSTRUCTIONS    
 
This section documents the mandatory requirements that must be met by bidders in preparing the 
Technical and Cost Proposal. Bidders should identify the subdivisions of “Project Description and 
Scope of Work” clearly in their proposals; failure to do so may result in disqualification.  Failure to 
respond to a specific requirement may be the basis for elimination from consideration during the 
State’s comparative evaluation. 
 
Proposals are due by the date and time shown in the Schedule of Events.  Content requirements for 
the Technical and Cost Proposal are presented separately in the following subdivisions: 
 
A. TECHNICAL PROPOSAL  

The Technical Proposal shall consist of four (4) sections: 
 
1. SIGNED “State of Nebraska Request For Proposal For Contractual Services” form; 
2. Executive Summary; 
3. Corporate Overview; and 
4. Technical Approach. 
 
1. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FORM  

By signing the “Request For Proposal For Contractual Services” form, the bidder 
guarantees compliance with the provisions stated in this Request for Proposal, agrees 
to the Terms and Conditions stated in this Request for Proposal and certifies bidder 
maintains a drug free work place environment. 
 
The Request For Proposal For Contractual Services form must be signed in ink and 
returned by the stated date and time in order to be considered for an award. 
 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
The Executive Summary shall condense and highlight the contents of the solution 
being proposed by the bidder in such a way as to provide the Evaluation Committee 
with a broad understanding of the Contractor's Technical Proposal. 
 
Bidders must present their understanding of the problems being addressed by 
implementing a new system, the objectives and intended results of the project, and the 
scope of work.  Bidders shall summarize how their Technical Proposal meets the 
requirements of the Request for Proposal, and why they are best qualified to perform 
the work required herein. 
 

3. CORPORATE OVERVIEW  
The Corporate Overview section of the Technical Proposal must consist of the 
following subdivisions:  
 
a. BIDDER IDENTIFICATION AND INFORMATION 

The bidder must provide the full company or corporate name, address of the 
company's headquarters, entity organization (corporation, partnership, 
proprietorship), state in which the bidder is incorporated or otherwise organized 
to do business, year in which the bidder first organized to do business, whether 
the name and form of organization has changed since first organized, and 
Federal Employer Identification Number and/or Social Security Number. 
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b. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The bidder must provide financial statements applicable to the firm.  If publicly 
held, the bidder must provide a copy of the corporation's most recent audited 
financial reports and statements, and the name, address and telephone number 
of the fiscally responsible representative of the bidder’s financial or banking 
organization. 
 
If the bidder is not a publicly held corporation, either the reports and statements 
required of a publicly held corporation, or a description of the organization, 
including size, longevity, client base, areas of specialization and expertise, and 
any other pertinent information must be submitted in such a manner that 
proposal evaluators may reasonably formulate a determination about the 
stability and financial strength of the organization.  Additionally, a non-publicly 
held firm must provide a banking reference. 
 
The bidder must disclose any and all judgments, pending or expected litigation, 
or other real or potential financial reversals, which might materially affect the 
viability or stability of the organization, or state that no such condition is known 
to exist.  
 

c. CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP 
If any change in ownership or control of the company is anticipated during the 
twelve (12) months following the proposal due date, the bidder must describe 
the circumstances of such change and indicate when the change will likely 
occur.  Any change of ownership to an awarded vendor(s) will require 
notification to the State. 
 

d. OFFICE LOCATION 
The bidder’s office location responsible for performance pursuant to an award 
of a contract with the State of Nebraska must be identified. 
 

e. RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE STATE 
The bidder shall describe any dealings with the State over the previous three 
(3) years.  If the organization, its predecessor, or any party named in the 
bidder’s proposal response has contracted with the State, the bidder shall 
identify the contract number(s) and/or any other information available to identify 
such contract(s).  If no such contracts exist, so declare. 
 

f. BIDDER'S EMPLOYEE RELATIONS TO STATE 
If any party named in the bidder's proposal response is or was an employee of 
the State within the past thirty-six (36) months, identify the individual(s) by 
name, State agency with whom employed, job title or position held with the 
State, and separation date.  If no such relationship exists or has existed, so 
declare. 
 
If any employee of any agency of the State of Nebraska is employed by the 
bidder or is a subcontractor to the bidder, as of the due date for proposal 
submission, identify all such persons by name, position held with the bidder, 
and position held with the State (including job title and agency).  Describe the 
responsibilities of such persons within the proposing organization.  If, after 
review of this information by the State, it is determined that a conflict of interest 
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exists or may exist, the bidder may be disqualified from further consideration in 
this proposal.  If no such relationship exists, so declare. 
 

g. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 
If the bidder or any proposed subcontractor has had a contract terminated for 
default during the past five (5) years, all such instances must be described as 
required below.  Termination for default is defined as a notice to stop 
performance delivery due to the bidder's non-performance or poor performance, 
and the issue was either not litigated due to inaction on the part of the bidder or 
litigated and such litigation determined the bidder to be in default. 
 
It is mandatory that the bidder submit full details of all termination for default 
experienced during the past five (5) years, including the other party's name, 
address and telephone number.  The response to this section must present the 
bidder’s position on the matter.  The State will evaluate the facts and will score 
the bidder’s proposal accordingly.  If no such termination for default has been 
experienced by the bidder in the past five (5) years, so declare. 
 
If at any time during the past five (5) years, the bidder has had a contract 
terminated for convenience, non-performance, non-allocation of funds, or any 
other reason, describe fully all circumstances surrounding such termination, 
including the name and address of the other contracting party.   
 

h. SUMMARY OF BIDDER’S CORPORATE EXPERIENCE 
The bidder shall provide a summary matrix listing the bidder’s previous projects 
similar to this Request for Proposal in size, scope and complexity.  The State 
will use no more than three (3) narrative project descriptions submitted by the 
bidder during its evaluation of the proposal. 
 
The bidder must address the following: 
 
i. Bidder must provide narrative descriptions to highlight the similarities 

between their experience and this Request for Proposal.  These 
descriptions must include: 

 
a) the time period of the project; 
b) the scheduled and actual completion dates; 
c) the contractor’s responsibilities;  
d) for reference purposes, a customer name (including the name of 

a contact person, a current telephone number, a facsimile 
number and e-mail address); and 

e) each project description shall identify whether the work was 
performed as the prime contractor or as a subcontractor.  If a 
bidder performed as the prime contractor, the description must 
provide the originally scheduled completion date and budget, as 
well as the actual (or currently planned) completion date and 
actual (or currently planned) budget.   

 
ii. Contractor and subcontractor(s) experience must be listed separately.  

Narrative descriptions submitted for subcontractors must be specifically 
identified as subcontractor projects. 
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iii. If the work was performed as a subcontractor, the narrative description 
shall identify the same information as requested for the contractors 
above.  In addition, subcontractors shall identify what share of contract 
costs, project responsibilities, and time period were performed as a 
subcontractor.   

 
i. SUMMARY OF BIDDER’S PROPOSED PERSONNEL/MANAGEMENT 

APPROACH 
The bidder must present a detailed description of its proposed approach to the 
management of the project. 
 
The bidder must identify the specific professionals who will work on the State’s 
project if their company is awarded the contract resulting from this Request for 
Proposal.  The names and titles of the team proposed for assignment to the 
State project shall be identified in full, with a description of the team leadership, 
interface and support functions, and reporting relationships.  The primary work 
assigned to each person should also be identified.   
 
The bidder shall provide resumes for all personnel proposed by the bidder to 
work on the project.  The State will consider the resumes as a key indicator of 
the bidder’s understanding of the skill mixes required to carry out the 
requirements of the Request for Proposal in addition to assessing the 
experience of specific individuals. 
 
Resumes must not be longer than three (3) pages.  Resumes shall include, at a 
minimum, academic background and degrees, professional certifications, 
understanding of the process, and at least three (3) references (name, address, 
and telephone number) who can attest to the competence and skill level of the 
individual.  Any changes in proposed personnel shall only be implemented after 
written approval from the State. 
 

j. SUBCONTRACTORS 
If the bidder intends to subcontract any part of its performance hereunder, the 
bidder must provide: 
 
i. name, address and telephone number of the subcontractor(s); 
ii. specific tasks for each subcontractor(s); 
iii. percentage of performance hours intended for each subcontract; and 
iv. total percentage of subcontractor(s) performance hours. 
 

4. TECHNICAL APPROACH  
The technical approach section of the Technical Proposal must consist of the following 
subsections:   
 
a. understanding of the project requirements; 
b. technical considerations; 
c. detailed implementation timeline based on the expected launch date;  and 
d. deliverables and due dates. 
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B. COST PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS  
This section describes the requirements to be addressed by bidders in preparing the Cost 
Proposal.  The bidder must submit the Cost Proposal in a section of the proposal that is a 
separate section or is packaged separately as specified in this RFP from the Technical 
Proposal section.   
 
The component costs of the fixed price proposal for providing the services set forth in the 
Request for Proposal must be provided by submitting forms substantially equivalent to those 
described below. 
 
1. PRICING SUMMARY  

This summary shall present the total fixed price to perform all of the requirements of 
the Request for Proposal.  The bidder must include details in the Cost Proposal 
supporting any and all costs.  These details must include, at a minimum, detailed 
descriptions and/or specifications of the goods and/or services to be provided, 
quantities, and timing and unit costs, if applicable. 
 
The State reserves the right to review all aspects of the Cost Proposal for 
reasonableness and to request clarification of any proposal where the cost component 
shows significant and unsupported deviation from industry standards or in areas where 
detailed pricing is required. 

 
2. PRICES 

All bidders are required to complete and return with their proposal response proposed 
pricing on Attachment A. 
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Form A 
 

Bidder Contact Sheet 

 

Request for Proposal Number 2787Z1 
 
 

Form A should be completed and submitted with each response to this Request for Proposal.  This is 
intended to provide the State with information on the bidder’s name and address, and the specific 
person(s) who are responsible for preparation of the bidder’s response.   
 

Preparation of Response Contact Information 

Bidder Name:  

Bidder Address:  
 
 

Contact Person & Title:  

E-mail Address:  

Telephone Number (Office):  

Telephone Number (Cellular):  

Fax Number:  

 
Each bidder shall also designate a specific contact person who will be responsible for responding to 
the State if any clarifications of the bidder’s response should become necessary.  This will also be the 
person who the State contacts to set up a presentation/demonstration, if required. 
 

Communication with the State Contact Information 

Bidder Name:  

Bidder Address:  
 
 

Contact Person & Title:  

E-mail Address:  

Telephone Number (Office):  

Telephone Number (Cellular):  

Fax Number:  
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Form B 
 

Notification of Intent to Bid 
 

Request for Proposal Number 2787Z1 
 
 

Bidder Name:  

Bidder Address:  
 
 

Contact Person:  

E-mail Address:  

Telephone Number:  

Fax Number:  

 
The “Notification of Intent to Bid” form should be submitted to the State Purchasing Bureau via e-mail 
(matpurch.dasmat@nebraska.gov), facsimile (402-471-2089), hand delivered or US Mail by the date 
shown in the Schedule of Events. 

mailto:matpurc@notes.state.ne.us


Name of Service or Product 

(if applicable)

Core Service or 

Additional Service

Assumed 

Participant 

Lives/Units

 Unit 

Cost 

 Set-up 

Fees 

 Total 

Annual Cost 

1 Implementation 

(assumes a one time fee)

HRA, Health Education, Behavior 

change modules, activity tracking, 

health coaching

Seminars

Other (describe)

Questionnaire

HRA Individual Results

Mailing Costs

Low Risk - Cost/Participant

Moderate Risk - Cost/Participant

High Risk - Cost/Participant

Other (describe)

5 Employee Customer Service 

Toll Free #800

Onsite

Lab Voucher

Other (describe)

Onsite or Population 

Standard

Customized

Other (describe)

ATTACHMENT A

PRICING FOR WELLNESS PROGRAM

2

3

4

Services 

(Describe each service provided)

Online Suite of Services (to include)

Paper HRA:

Individual Targeted Lifestyle Modification Programs - telephonic

Biometric Screenings (assumes values uploaded into HRA)

Communication and Promotion Materials:

6

7
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Name of Service or Product 

(if applicable)

Core Service or 

Additional Service

Assumed 

Participant 

Lives/Units

 Unit 

Cost 

 Set-up 

Fees 

 Total 

Annual Cost 

ATTACHMENT A

PRICING FOR WELLNESS PROGRAM

Services 

(Describe each service provided)

Onsite client manager (assumes full 

time at State)

Additional management fees

Data Feeds

Custom Reports

Other (describe)

Travel Expenses

Other (describe)

Other (describe)

Client Management Reporting

Incidentals:

8
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